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--- On commencing at 9:43 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Panel is sitting today in EB-2017-0182, 0194, 0364.  Before we commence with cross-examination of this panel, are there any preliminary issues, Mr. Cass or Mr. Warren?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I don't think you need to turn it up, but beginning at page 111 and following of yesterday's transcript there were questions that were asked by Mr. Murray of the Hydro One panel, which I can paraphrase as questions about the cost implications of various scenarios about EA changes and going through the park and so on and so forth, and we endeavoured to try and deal with them last night because -- at your invitation or suggestion we deal with it this morning.  Ms. Croll is really the person who is most qualified to answer those questions, and so my suggestion is that Ms. Croll is available first thing Tuesday morning to come back and respond to those issues.

In terms of the Board's schedule and its impact on it, I have reviewed last night the IESO matters.  I had reserved an hour for it, and I think I can -- have now shaved that down to somewhere between zero and ten minutes.  So there will be additional time available.

So with your permission, Ms. Croll and Ms. Cooper will be back Tuesday morning to answer those follow-up questions to the ones that Mr. Murray asked and that you were interested in answers to.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.

Mr. Cass, nothing?

MR. CASS:  No.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Good.  Then I believe, Ms. Ledoux, you're on.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1, resumed

Christine Goulais,

Elisa Croll,

Andrew Spencer,

Sanjib Karunakaran,

Robert Reinmuller,

Angel Pinto,

Aaron Fair; Previously Affirmed

Cross-Examination by Ms. Ledoux:

MS. LEDOUX:  Good morning, panel.  Can you hear me properly?  Yes.  So let's start directly to Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule? 15 at page 3, which is at tab 1 of BLP's compendium.  So I am looking at the excerpt where HONI mentions that the 45-day time line is a minimum amount of time, requested from the date of approval of the leave-to-construct application to negotiate in principle agreement.

So I understand from your answer yesterday that this is only for equity participation, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. LEDOUX:  So if the 45-day time line is, quote, the minimum amount of time for equity participation, can you provide a sense of what Hydro One would consider a reasonable amount of time for a consultation and -- with impacted First Nations?

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think just to clarify on the 45-day -- which we clarified yesterday -- that 45-day time frame was included as a time frame that we thought would be reasonable to reach the terms and conditions of an equity agreement.

As Mr. Spencer said yesterday, that agreement would not come into effect until after the in-service date of the project.  So there is in fact a lot of time to be able to have those discussions and negotiations around that.  So just to clarify that 45-day time frame.

In terms of your question regarding a reasonable amount of time to undertake consultation on a project like this, we are confident that the time frames we've identified are adequate, taking into consideration that a lot of the studies and work has already taken place as a result of NextBridge's project.

So a lot of the information is the same, and I believe Ms. Croll also identified yesterday that we are not suggesting that there is no requirement for consultation on the parts of the project that are the same.  We do understand that there is a requirement for consultation with communities, but we are confident that the time frames we have identified are reasonable, given this project -- there is some overlap with the existing work that's been done on this project.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  Thank you, Ms. Goulais.

So do you recognize that it took five years to negotiate an agreement between BLP and NextBridge?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, I am aware.

MS. LEDOUX:  And do you recognize that it took HONI three years to negotiate just the heads of agreement with BLP, not the detailed agreement itself?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, I'm aware.

MS. LEDOUX:  So based on those previous experiences do you want to revise your answer about the reasonable amount of time to achieve an agreement on economic participation?

MS. GOULAIS:  No.

MS. LEDOUX:  So am I right to understand that the minimum -- the minimal time frame is the only time frame you have planned for the DTCA?  For matters of convenience I will refer to the duty to consult and accommodate as the DTCA, if that works for the panel.

MS. GOULAIS:  I'm sorry, I don't understand the question.

MS. LEDOUX:  So the question is, do I understand from your answers that the minimal time frame is the only time frame you have planned for the duty to consult and accommodate?

MS. GOULAIS:  No, that is not what I said.

MS. LEDOUX:  Okay.  So you realize that a 40-day -- a 40-day time line for reaching an agreement on economic accommodation sends a clear message to First Nations that HONI has a very low view of its constitutional duty to consult obligations, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  I wouldn't agree with that, no.  I think all of the evidence and the information we have provided to date shows our commitment to undertaking consultation in a respectful way.

Again, the 45-day time frame that you referred to was a time frame that we included to show that we are, in fact, committed to reaching these agreements as quickly as we possibly can on the equity participation, and understanding that those can take time, we do have the time to do that, given that construction takes longer than 45 days.

But again, I would not agree that the statement of 45 days indicates that we -- we don't think that that is -- that being able to undertake that is valuable.  In fact, I think it shows that we are committed to having those discussions in a reasonable time frame.

And again, separating -- you are putting consultation and accommodation together.  And although accommodation follows consultation as an important aspect of that, this is not intended to say that Hydro One believes consultation on a major project takes 45 days.  That is not the intention of this statement.

MR. SPENCER:  And if I might just elaborate slightly as well.  We would be happy if opportunity presented itself now and in the year and a half that we have been working on this project to have been able to discuss economic equity participation with all interested parties.

However, we've been precluded and excluded from that ability through the actions of NextBridge and establishment of exclusivity agreements that barred us from doing so.  We have been very respectful and adhered to that requirement, and I think through the evidence that's been presented there is certainly a clear depiction of how Hydro One has approached this from a potential partnership perspective, and I graciously refer you back to page 12 of our May 7th evidence, where we explained -- and I think in some detail -- our envisioned approach to partnership as a starting point.

Certainly it will take some time to have these conversations with communities, but we've certainly demonstrated, I think, our commitment to the project.

And if one looks at the difference in our higher equity participation over a 30-year study period as referenced on page 12, there is actually over $30 million benefit as compared to the other proponent's application that would directly benefit to your clients if they were in fact able to reach terms of this on these agreements.

Our intention has always been to pursue a partnership in the order of 34 percent, and we continue to look forward to opportunities when the time presents itself that we can have those meaningful conversations and we are not excluded.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  Let me reframe the question differently.  So how does HONI expect to reach an agreement in the time frame that took five years for NextBridge to negotiate and three years for only heads of agreement with HONI?  How do you expect to do this in such a short time frame?

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think Hydro One does have experience negotiating these types of agreements with communities, particularly on the Bruce-to-Milton project.  So we do have experience negotiating these agreements, particularly on the equity partnership in the time frames that we have identified, so we are confident we can do it within those time frames based on our experience.

MR. SPENCER:  And just slightly -- just because it did take five years doesn't mean that it needed to take five years.  So we would be approaching this certainly with an eye to doing it in a shorter period of time, and as Ms. Goulais alludes to, our experience and we believe our approach would allow us to do so.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.

So moving on.  When exactly are you planning on beginning construction?  I think I got a little bit -- I was looking at your Exhibit B, tab 11, schedule 1, and this table outlines -- it's July 2019 as the beginning of construction, but I am guessing this has been changed by reference to your updates two days ago.  Am I right?

MR. SPENCER:  If I may?  So updated information has been provided through interrogatory responses.

So the most efficient places to look, I would suggest, would be Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 5.  And if you are interested in more specificity around the EA timeline, in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14, attachment 1 -- which we spent some time perhaps the day before yesterday reviewing.

So in answer to your direct question around when would we be planning to start construction, we are looking at this fall, which, in recognition of the reality that on the September 24th evidence that NextBridge filed in response to a Staff interrogatory, they are forecasting to have their individual EA approved around February 2015 -- sorry, February 2019.  After which point we would continue to pursue the declaration order, which would allow us to start construction somewhere in the period of September to October 2019.

MS. LEDOUX:  Okay, thank you.  So I would now ask you to go to tab 2 of BLP's compendium, especially to the answer to -- so it is on page 2.  It is the answer to the question (d).

It says at the end of this paragraph:
"Hydro One remains committed to reaching agreeable terms in principle within 45 days following OEB approval.  Given the date of OEB approval is undefined, Hydro One cannot answer the question as to whether or not the status of equity participation discussions or agreements will impact the construction schedule."

So the record so far is a bit contradictory, and this is a bit unclear.  So I just want to make sure we understood you clearly.

So if leave to construct is granted, will HONI refrain from beginning construction until DTCA constitutional requirements with BLP First Nations are met?

MS. GOULAIS:   I think we answered this question already.  The answer is no, we do not believe that the inability to reach the agreements referenced here would impact the construction schedule.

MS. LEDOUX:  So following an OEB approval, if no participation agreements with the BLP First Nations communities are reached, will HONI still begin the construction phase in the fall of 2019?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. LEDOUX:  If leave to construct is granted, will HONI refrain from beginning construction until an agreement on economic participation is reached with BLP First Nations communities?

MS. GOULAIS:  No.  And if I can provide a bit of context, we have -- for example, I will go back to the Bruce-to-Milton example.  Those economic participation or the equity participation agreement was in fact negotiated and put into place after in-service.

So those discussions happened long after construction and after in-service.

So I would suggest that if we didn't have an agreement in place, post or during construction, that doesn't mean there is not an opportunity to have that afterwards.  Again, based on our experience, we have been able to achieve something very similar on Bruce-to-Milton where in fact the discussions around equity participation took place post in-service.

MS. LEDOUX:  So I take that your answer is the same for -- if the leave to construct is granted, will HONI refrain from beginning construction until BLP First Nations free, prior informed consent is obtained?

MS. GOULAIS:  No, I -- the answer to your question is about whether we would proceed -- specifically referencing part (d) to your compendium, or to the reference that you made, you asked if we would proceed with construction if we did not have this specific equity participation agreement in place and my answer was yes, we would.

MS. LEDOUX:  You will proceed with construction?  Yes?  That's your answer?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. LEDOUX:  So will you also proceed to construction if you -- if HONI doesn't obtain BLP's First Nation's free, prior and informed consent?

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think the answer is what we have given several times over the course of the last couple of days, is that we are undertaking consultation with all communities.

We have had some form of -- whether it is meetings or follow-ups or conversations, we have agreements signed with several communities.  We will continue making best efforts from a consultation perspective with those communities.

Again, the equity participation agreement for the BLP communities is something very specific.  We do have other economic participation opportunities for other communities involved in this project, and we have been able to have some discussions with some communities about those.

So my answer is the consultation began and is continuing, and we fully intend to undertake consultation with all communities.  And as I mentioned, we have met with several -- we met with all of them at least on one occasion, some several.  We have agreements signed with communities.  We have communities currently participating in a lot of the EA studies in archaeology work.

So we fully intend to continue down the path of consultation with communities in hopes to have their -- not only their support, but in hopes to see that they benefit from this project one way or another as well.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you, Ms. Goulais.  I am really looking for a yes or no answer here.  I am wondering if the free, prior informed consent of BLP First Nations might delay your construction schedule if you don't obtain that free, prior and informed consent from BLP First Nations.  Yes or no?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the answer is we are undertaking consultation in a way that is respectful, and we are looking for all communities to benefit from this project.

We are confident that we can undertake that within the time frames that we have identified in all of the evidence provided to date.  And again, we are working in hopes that all communities will benefit from this project and support the project.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  I would just like to note that this is not an answer.  This is not a clear answer to my question, but I can move on now.

So I guess your answer would be the same if I asked you if you would have the same answer for active Aboriginal title claims on lands covered by the LSL projects for First Nations who have such active land claims?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, can you repeat your question?

MS. LEDOUX:  So your answer to my previous question about the free, prior and informed consent of First Nations and that the impact on the construction timeframe.  So would your answer be the same for First Nations who have an active land claim on the LSL project, on the lands covered by the LSL project?


MS. GOULAIS:  I think those communities that have active Aboriginal title claims or land claims, in my experience -- and I am not a land claim expert, but in my experience, particularly supporting my own community in undertaking a land claim, land claims can take 20, to 30, 40 years.

And so Hydro One is not in a position to comment on the status of a particular community's land claim or how the timeframes that those communities are considering for land claims.  But what I can say is that Hydro One is respectful of the fact that some of those communities have title claims and are working with those communities to understand and appreciate how this project may impact those lands, and working with them to mitigate any of those impacts on those lands.

The land claim process is a federal and provincial government process.  Hydro One has no involvement in that process, and to comment on whether or not a land claim, which could take 20, 30, or 40 years, would impact our construction schedule is not something I am comfortable answering.

What I can say is that Hydro One is absolutely committed to working with these communities to understand how our project may or may not impact their lands, including their title claim area lands, and how we can work together to mitigate those impacts.

MR. SPENCER:  To elaborate slightly, the other proponent faces the exact same reality of these land claims and when one does a comparison of the two projects and their impact on the natural environment, certainly one of the substantial differences is the reduced clearing that is required with our solution, amongst others.

MS. LEDOUX:  And another difference, if I may, is that they have an agreement and you don't, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. LEDOUX:  So in a scenario where the BLP First Nation does not consent to the LSL project going through the park, will HONI accept to use the route around the park?

MR. SPENCER:  We have provided evidence and testimony that it is technically possible and certainly if we -- if we were selected, we would still provide a customer benefit by following that route.

However, we are highly confident and remain so that our alternative and proposed route through Pukaskwa National Park is in fact achievable, that the ongoing conversations with Parks Canada have been certainly supportive of the direction we're heading.  We have maintained regular and constant communication with them, and we have every reason to believe that we will be successful in going through the park in accordance with our licence agreement, and the construction methods that are being utilized, Parks Canada has been supportive.

In answer to your direct question, could we around Pukaskwa Park?  Sure, but we think that would not be as beneficial as our preferred route through the park.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.

I want to go back to the traditional knowledge studies that we talked about yesterday.  I just want to understand again based on your schedule and about the time frame for the beginning of construction, so am I right to think that HONI may begin the construction phase before the traditional knowledge studies are completed and incorporated into the EA?

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think that's an EA-specific question that Ms. Croll would be better suited to answer.

In relation -- I can speak to the traditional knowledge in terms of Hydro One's commitment to working with communities on that.  And the capacity funding agreements and the overall consultation with communities has welcomed traditional knowledge on this project for all communities who are interested in providing that traditional knowledge.

So I think that is the answer I am going to give.  Your specific question about the EA and the relationship to the EA, I am not the best person to answer that question.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  So if the Panel, if the Board agrees, I would maybe keep that question for Tuesday for Ms. Croll.

MS. LONG:  Well, perhaps you can go back and review the transcript, because I thought Ms. Strachan asked some questions in relation to this, and I don't think they were specific to MNO, but I think there was some discussion yesterday about some of these studies being done prior to the EA and there being some room after for consideration.

So perhaps you could review the transcript.  We will all review the transcript.

MS. LEDOUX:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  And I know it was a long day yesterday, and if there is further questions, then perhaps that could be put to Ms. Croll Tuesday morning.

MS. LEDOUX:  Okay, thank you.  I will review specific to BLP.  Yes.

So then we will move on to tab 4 of BLP's compendium.  So this is about the usage of First Nations reserve land that would require Indigenous Services Canada authorizations.

And my question is, so far have you applied for any reserve land use permits under section 28(2) of the Indian Act or any equivalent land use authorizations of First Nation reserve lands?

MS. GOULAIS:  I am going to let my colleague Mr. Fair answer that.

MR. FAIR:  I can speak to that.  We have not at this point in time, but we are pursuing those conversations with the directly impacted First Nations, Pays Plat, Michipicoten, specific to the reserve base.

MS. LEDOUX:  Right.  Thank you.

So now we can go to tab 5.  I will come back to this later, unless you want to add something?

MR. FAIR:  No, I am fine.  Thanks.

MS. LEDOUX:  So we can move on to tab 5 now.  I would like to look into your record of consultation.  It is a table named "Lake Superior Link record of consultation."

On page 1 you mention a February 20th dinner in Rama to further discuss the LSL submission.  That invitation was sent to Chief Michano from Biigtigong First Nation on February 16th; is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  I am just catching up with where you are.

MS. LEDOUX:  So...

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, that is what it says, yes.

MS. LEDOUX:  So that is three days before the actual meeting, and you realize that BFN is situated at more than 1,000 kilometres away from Rama, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sure.  Maybe I can provide some context.  So this February -- the February 20th Rama meeting referenced in this record of consultation, Hydro One hosts an annual First Nations engagement session.  We started hosting it in 2017, was our first one, and February 20th, 2018 was our second one.  We invite all 89 First Nation leaders that we serve to come and meet and talk about areas of mutual interest.

So this was a session that the chief, as well as all of the other chiefs listed here, as well as all of the other -- all 89 chiefs would have been invited to attend what was called a First Nations engagement session in Rama.

So the invitation to -- would have been sent to that session, to the Rama session, would have been sent before whatever the date is here, February 16th.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thanks.  I would then show you page 3 of this document.  So you mentioned an e-mail sent to Chief Mushquash of the Pays Plat First Nation on March 6th, 2018, to inform him of a caribou survey that takes place from March 6th to 8th.  So this is starting the same day, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, I am just catching up with where you are.

MS. LEDOUX:  Sure.  So it is on March 6th, 2008 (sic).

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. LEDOUX:  And it is an e-mail sent to Chief Mushquash of the Pays Plat.  2018.  Sorry.  I said 2008.

MR. SPENCER:  This is the second row on page 3 of the record?

MS. LEDOUX:  Let me check.

MS. GOULAIS:  Right.  So this -- again, the context of this -- there was a notification to communities about a caribou study, and where it says "Hydro One followed up on the February 16th e-mail sent to provide notice of an upcoming caribou study", that is referencing the February 16th letter notification that would have gone out to the BLP communities, I believe, about the project at large, and indicating Hydro One's section 92 application.  And this caribou study e-mail would have said, following up to that notification we are undertaking a caribou study, is the context there.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  On page 57, so that would be the third page in the compendium, on June 19th, 2018 SNC-Lavalin invites the BN to participate in surveys of land that are already scheduled to begin three days later from June 22 to 27, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  I am just going to read it, and then I will answer your question.

MS. LEDOUX:  Yes, sure.

MS. GOULAIS:  [Reading]  Okay.  I have read it.

MS. LEDOUX:  So this is a notification of a surveys of land that is scheduled three days later; is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. LEDOUX:  On page 154 of that same document, which would be on page 4 of the attachment, on September 4, 2018 BN was informed that on September 17th, meaning three days later, artefacts would be removed from four archeological locations following the LSL archeological program.  They were provided with a three days' notice to participate in the archeological field work, right?

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. LEDOUX:  So you found the right excerpt?

MS. GOULAIS:  We are just having a quick consult here.  We will respond to your question in a minute.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.

MS. GOULAIS:  So to answer your question, the September 4th date you have referenced here with Biigtigong Nishnaabeg.  So we signed the capacity funding agreement with Biigtigong in August, August 15th, specifically.  So we would have had ongoing discussions with Biigtigong about some of this work.

The notification referenced here would have been to provide communities with sort of an update on what was going on, but the conversations with Biigtigong would have happened prior, given that we have an agreement with them and keep them informed on what's going on.

MS. LEDOUX:  So is it right that some First Nations expressed concerns with the short delays HONI was imposing?  Has any First Nations to your knowledge expressed that they felt rushed by your process and that they were unable to fully participate with such tight deadlines?

MS. GOULAIS:  We have had some communities express concern around tight timelines.

Our timelines are short, and we all understand that communities may not have the capacity to do the work that we are asking them within a short period of time, which is why we have the capacity funding agreements, why we have gone in and met with communities, walked through some of the information, help them understand what it is, because we --

So to answer your question is yes, we have heard communities' concerns around timelines and we are trying to work with them, both from a capacity perspective as well as a -- we'll come out and work with you directly and walk you through the material and documents, so that you understand it and again, as a part of the terms of reference process, understanding what those concerns are and being able to respond to them.

MS. LEDOUX:  So just to make this clear, how does HONI expect First Nations to meaningfully participate on such short notice?

I understand from your answer that you will provide economic funding, capacity funding.  But will HONI also provide time for meaningful participation?

MS. GOULAIS:  So there are again -- hopefully, I am paraphrasing Ms. Croll's testimony over the last couple of days accurately -- there are ways in which all impacted stakeholders, including Indigenous communities, can seek formal extensions on reviewing terms of reference documents, for example, if they are concerned with the timelines.

As Ms. Croll provided an update yesterday, three of the communities have asked for those timelines by the Ministry of the Environment to allow, via the terms of reference process, for more time.

So there is more time being provided to communities who need it through that process, the terms of reference process.

And again, when we receive comments on the terms of reference and we understand what the concerns are, we try to work with communities to mitigate those impacts.  But some communities need more time.  Those communities have asked for that time from the Ministry of Environment and we have provided that time.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  We will move on to tab 6 of BLP's compendium.

So this is a letter that HONI received from the Crown, from the Ministry of Energy on March 2, 2018.  It is delegating to HONI the procedural aspects of consultation and accommodation of First Nations for the LSL project.

Ms. Goulais, do you agree that this letter means that the duty to consult and accommodate has been delegated to HONI with respect to the LSL project?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.  So the letter states the Ministry of Energy is delegating procedural aspects of consultation to Hydro One.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  And you do agree that consultation and accommodation are constitutional duties under Canada's highest laws to effect reconciliation with First Nations who have been run roughshod over the brutality of colonialism for centuries?  Do you agree with this?

MS. GOULAIS:  Do you do I agree that the duty to consult is a requirement?

MS. LEDOUX:  Is a requirement, and that the aim of this duty to consult and accommodate is reconciliation.

MS. GOULAIS:  It is a requirement.  The duty to consult is a requirement of the provincial and federal Crown.

This letter delegates consultation to Hydro One by the Ministry of Energy, and that is the purpose of this letter, is the Ministry of Energy delegating procedural aspects of consultation to Hydro One.  Because we are the project experts, we need to undertake the consultation on behalf of the Crown.

But I want to be clear.  It is procedural aspects of consultation.  The duty to consult will always remain with the Crown, both the provincial and federal Crown.

MS. LEDOUX:  Hmm-hmm.  But those procedural aspects are also bound by the idea of reconciliation underlying those duties.

So do you agree in the view of marching towards reconciliation, consultation and accommodation duties cannot be rushed or short-changed, because the Crown or the proponent to which duties have been delegated, such as HONI, is on some tight timeline particularly of its own doing?

MS. GOULAIS:  I think again, I will go back to my answer that I have given several times.  Hydro One is undertaking consultation in a respectful manner within the timeframes that we have.  We are working with communities to ensure that they are meaningfully consulted and have the capacity to do that.

MS. LEDOUX:  This is your view?

MS. GOULAIS:  Based on my experience, yes, it is my view.

MS. LEDOUX:  If HONI cannot acquire the free, prior and informed consent of the BLP First Nation because it cannot fully accommodate their concerns, will HONI withdraw from pursuing the LSL project -- sorry?


MR. WARREN:  This question has been asked and answered about six times now.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Ledoux, I think you have asked that question.

MS. LEDOUX:  Okay.  I have no problem with going to the other question.  HONI does not yet know whether it will acquire such consent, does it?  Do you know if you will acquire BLP's First Nations consent?

MS. LONG:  Can you be more clear on consent, what you mean?

MS. LEDOUX:  You want me to define what I mean by consent?

MS. LONG:  I just wasn't sure how this is different than the questions you have asked before.  So can you be more specific in your question?

MS. LEDOUX:  So my first question is before is will HONI withdraw from pursuing the LSL project if they don't obtain the consent.

And here my question is whether it knows if it will acquire such consent.

I can move to the other questions.

MS. LONG:  No, no, I am trying to understand your question.  So will HONI withdraw --


MS. LEDOUX:  This application.

MS. NOWINA:  -- this application before this Board --


MS. LEDOUX:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  If they do not obtain the prior consent of BLP?

MS. LEDOUX:  That is my question.

MS. LONG:  Is that your question?

MS. LONG:  Given that this application is currently before this Board right now --


MS. LEDOUX:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  -- and we are in a hearing?  That is your question?  I just want to frame this so that she can answer the question.

If consent is not obtained before the end of this hearing or before this decision, a decision is rendered by this Board, will they withdraw, will Hydro One withdraw?  Is that your question?

MS. LEDOUX:  Yes.  My question is given that HONI does not have the consent of BLP First Nation right now, do they agree to withdraw this very application.

MS. NOWINA:  That is a different question.  You don't have it now, are you going to withdraw your application as opposed to if you don't get it before we render a decision, are you going to withdraw it.  I see the distinction there.

MS. LEDOUX:  Well, I would agree to ask both questions.

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think the answer to the question around consent -- which was also posed to NextBridge in the interrogatories -- is that we, again, are making best efforts to reach consultation agreements with all Indigenous communities who wish to enter into those consultation agreements.

We have met with some communities who are not interested in reaching those agreements, and who just want to be kept informed of the project.

You know, our answer is similar in some ways to NextBridge's response to an interrogatory posed to them around would they proceed with their project without consent from all communities.  And their response is that they do intend to proceed with construction of their project in the absence of consent, and understand that there will be some communities along various points of the consultation process in the project that may have concerns, but wish to mitigate them.

MS. LEDOUX:  But your answer here -- sorry, Ms. Goulais.  Your answer refers to First Nations in general.  I am specifically talking about BLP.

MS. GOULAIS:  We have an agreement in place with two of the BLP communities right now, a capacity funding agreement -- a capacity funding agreement in place with two of the BLP communities and are working very closely with them on this project.

MS. LEDOUX:  So am I right to understand that you will not withdraw this very application if you don't obtain the consent of BLP First Nation?

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I can answer the question for counsel.  The answer is no, no.  They will proceed with the application.  Thank you.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you for the clarity.  So HONI does know that the BLP First Nations have raised, and continue to raise serious concerns with the HONI LSL project, including the routing through the park in Aboriginal-title-claimed land, and including the potential loss of millions of dollars worth of First Nations business contracts and hundreds of thousands of First Nations' jobs which have been lined up for the NextBridge project, and which the HONI project threatens because of serious delays?

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry to keep interrupting, but I am not aware of any evidence on the record that there are hundreds of thousands of jobs in issue in this proceeding.

Perhaps my friend could refer the witnesses to the evidence that has been given with respect to hundreds of thousands of jobs being and millions of dollars in lost work, particularly in light of the evidence my client has given that it is working with these folks, or would like to work with these folks to reach an agreement.

My larger concern, Madam Chair, is that there are numbers being thrown around about duration and number of jobs without any evidentiary record for them, and if they show up in argument there is no way we can respond to them.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Ledoux, do you want to refer the witnesses to the evidence with respect to hundreds of thousands of jobs and millions of dollars lost?

MS. LEDOUX:  I would refer to the affidavit of Chief Collins that's already on the evidence, and I could also undertake to provide -- well, actually, we have been trying to provide numbers about the loss of business opportunities, but this is confidential information.  So we have issues with providing, like, numbers about the amounts that would be lost.  But I could certainly refer, again, to Chief Collins' affidavit ---

MS. LONG:  Can you pull that up, and we will refer to the sections that you would like to have the witnesses comment on.

MS. LEDOUX:  Okay.  Can I -- would you provide some time maybe after our break so I can pull out the evidence and put it to the Board?

MS. LONG:  Well, you have about five minutes left, so did you want to -- you want to take the break now and -- I just don't want these witnesses to answer questions that they're not clear on the numbers.  And I admit I read Chief Collins's affidavit and I wasn't aware it was hundreds of thousands of jobs, so I too would like to review that.

So do you have another area that you want to go to?

MS. LEDOUX:  Sure.  I can continue --


MS. LONG:  And then maybe we will take an early morning break and you can pull that up and take a look at it and then pose questions with respect to that affidavit to the witnesses.  Does that work?

MS. LEDOUX:  Yes, that works.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So HONI is aware that one of the BLP First Nations, Michipicoten, has serious issues with the LSL line going through their reserve lands, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MS. LEDOUX:  Sure.  So HONI is aware that one of the BLP First Nations, Michipicoten, has serious issues with the LSL line going through their reserve lands.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, we are aware.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  So does HONI understand that this is a distinct -- that there is a distinct possibility that the BLP First Nations might not consider they are fully accommodated as to give their consent to the LSL project?

MS. GOULAIS:  Well, Michipicoten is unique because the project traverses their reserve lands, as does Pays Plat.  So Michipicoten and Pays Plat's land issues are different than the other BLP communities because the line -- or
the -- well, the proposed line will traverse their reserve lands, which has other land and real-estate implications in comparison to some of the other communities.

So I think -- I am not comfortable answering your question as BLP, because based on what I know and what I have learned from these two communities is that Michipicoten and Pays Plat are very different, given their reserve lands are impacted in a different way, and there are unique real-estate and permitting requirements, given those impacts.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  So to continue with the special circumstances around Michipicoten First Nation, you said yesterday that you had a consultation agreement with Michipicoten First Nation, a member of BLP.  Was this --


MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, I would like to correct you.  I never said that we have a consultation agreement with Michipicoten, I said we have an interim archaeology agreement with Michipicoten, which is specific to the archaeology work on this project.

MS. LEDOUX:  So you agree that this is an interim agreement limited to archaeological work.

MS. GOULAIS:  That is what the agreement says, yes.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  And is the capacity funding merely for the archeological work as well?

MS. GOULAIS:  The budget attached to that agreement is specific to the archeology work.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  Are you familiar with the chief of Michipicoten's First Nation letter of comment about whether or not the routing of Lake Superior Link on the reserve is acceptable to them?

MS. GOULAIS:  You would have to refer me to the letter.

MS. LONG:  Can we bring that letter up?  You're referring to it.  Is it on the record?

MS. LEDOUX:  Yes, it is on the record.  I can do this after the break as well.

MS. LONG:  Let's bring it up.

MS. LEDOUX:  So have you resolved the problems with the lack of permit for the existing line?

MS. GOULAIS:  I will let Mr. Fair answer that.

MR. FAIR:  I think that is out of the -- I think that is out of the context of this hearing, the existing occupations on Michipicoten First Nation.

MS. LEDOUX:  So -- and yesterday you also said, Ms. Goulais, that there was a clear path forward to be on Michipicoten First Nation's reserve.  What is it?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, what was the question?

MS. LEDOUX:  So yesterday you said that there was a clear path forward to be on Michipicoten First Nation's reserve.  What is this path?

MS. GOULAIS:  I didn't say there was a clear path forward to be on Michipicoten's reserve.  I said we have had discussions with Michipicoten about how to move forward together.  We are currently negotiating a capacity funding agreement with them.  And we have an understanding of how we can work together.  We have signed an agreement with them on the Wawa transformer station project, which clearly outlines how we're going to work together.  We have had conversations about how we can work together on this project.  The community is asking that the capacity funding agreement be in place before we can proceed with any other meetings or any other work, which is why the interim archeology agreement was critical so that that work could happen with the inclusion of Michipicoten.

So where we are at right now specifically with Michipicoten is, we are working towards a capacity funding agreement so that we can continue moving forward with those discussions.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  So do you think Michipicoten First Nation would agree that there is a clear path forward, as you said, for Lake Superior Link on the reserve?

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, the witness has said that she didn't say there was a clear path forward and then counsel says "do you agree with the clear path forward".  The witness said she didn't say that.

MS. GOULAIS:  I am wondering if I am allowed to ask for clarification on a --


MS. LONG:  Absolutely.  If you don't understand the question or need clarification --


MS. GOULAIS:  You are referencing BLP, and in the evidence submitted more recently it says "BLP five".  Can you clearly help me understand who the BLP communities that are represented so that we can answer the questions appropriately?

MS. LEDOUX:  Mm-hmm.  So BLP is composed of six First Nations, including Michipicoten, but because they have special circumstances they are also represented separately.

MS. GOULAIS:  So the evidence that we have seen recently in the letters and the interrogatories reference BLP five.  So I am -- so just to be clear, when you are asking questions about BLP, you are referring to all six communities.  Can you list them for me, please?

MS. LEDOUX:  I can do that after.

MS. GOULAIS:  Okay, thank you.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions for now.  Maybe I can continue.  This is kind of a break in my questions.

MS. LONG:  Well, you are out of time, actually, Ms. Ledoux.  You had 45 minutes scheduled, and I am at 45 minutes.  So what I propose to do is, let's take our morning break of 15 minutes, and you can pull up those two documents that you wanted to refer to, one being the affidavit of Chief Collins, pose a few questions to this panel.  Five minutes, I would think you could do it in that time.

MS. LEDOUX:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  And then we will move on to Ms. Strachan, who -- the Métis Nation of Ontario will go next, okay, but let's take our morning break until 10:45.  Thank you.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 10:53 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Okay, Ms. Ledoux, you had some documents you wanted to take the witnesses to.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  I think I will not provide those extra documents.  But if you allow me, Madam Chair, I only have two extra questions.  It won't take more than five minutes and I will use my time for those two questions, if you allow me.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Warren, you had asked for specification on those questions with respect to costs and timing.

I don't know if the witnesses want to clarify, or if we're just going to leave that question not answered on the record.

MS. LEDOUX:  No answers were provided to those questions.

MR. SPENCER:  We would like an opportunity to respond because there was some information we would like to elaborate upon and clarify.

MR. WARREN:  Just before my client does that, Madam Chair, I don't know what the status then is of the suggestion of hundreds of thousands of jobs.  I think in the absence --

MS. LONG:  We reviewed Chief Collins' affidavit on the break and I understand it speaks to, in generalities, millions of dollars lost.  But it does not speak specifically to numbers of jobs, although we understand that that is a concern that there are some jobs obviously in issue, but there was not a number specified.

MS. LEDOUX:  Exactly, that's correct.

MS. LONG:  Is that a fair characterization?  That is how I read the affidavit.

MR. WARREN:  Then I would appreciate it if my friend could advise the Board, for purposes of the record, that there is no basis for the hundreds of thousands of jobs.  As long as it is not on the record, or it is on the record but no weight is given to it, that's fine.

MS. LONG:  Okay, Mr. Esquega?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Good morning.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I think the reference to hundreds of jobs being at stake is in the cross-examination of Chief Collins that was done at the technical conference in May.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, not to interrupt, but just to be clear, we're talking hundreds of jobs.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I believe it's hundreds.  I have not reviewed it.

MS. LONG:  But not hundreds of thousands of jobs, which is what we have heard.  Just to be clear, it is hundreds of jobs.

MS. LEDOUX:  I would agree with hundreds of jobs.  Potentially a thousand, but I will leave it at that.

MS. LONG:  Okay, all right.  You had two questions, you said?

MS. LEDOUX:  Two questions.  So if you would go, please, to tab 10 of BLP's compendium, on page 5, it says that HONI allocated around 18.5 million for First Nations and Métis participation, which were accounted for in the site clearing, preparation and remediation cost category.

So just to make sure I understand this well, nothing in this cost estimate reflects the costs for -- maybe I will give you some time to find the right excerpt.  This is Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 10, at page 5.

So again I am referring to the excerpt where HONI allocated around 18.5 million for First Nations and Métis participation, which were accounted for in the site clearing, preparation and remediation cost category.

So I want to understand.  I want to make sure that nothing in this cost estimate reflects the costs to BLP First Nations for delays, loss of employment, loss of business opportunities, or the costs of delay of one or more years due to completing the requirements of duty to consult and accommodate and accommodate, and economic participation.  Is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is not correct.  We would like an opportunity just to clarify some of the evidence that is in fact in the record.

So as we have heard, the Hydro One plan construction start date would be in the fall of 2019, subject to, of course, the approval of this Board of our application and the environmental approvals that are necessary pre-construction.

We have spent a lot of time in this proceeding talking about the end of construction, and when one looks at the beginning of the construction periods and you overlay our evidence I have just provided, as well as the NextBridge response to interrogatory Staff number 49, one can see that there is in the order of three or maybe four month's difference between the construction start on the two applications before this Board for consideration.

The specific reference you are taking us to right now actually demonstrates that Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin have allocated increased economic participation during the construction phase, relative to the other proponent.

This delay of a few months is in the context of the overall project, and the longer term lasting benefits that Hydro One is in a unique position to be able to provide through not just the construction phase of this project, but potentially ongoing employment of skilled and qualified workers from across Indigenous communities, as well as previously referenced on page 12 of our May 7th evidence, substantial, lasting benefits of ownership that would come to the five or six Bamkushwada communities ultimately upon completion of the line.

So my overall point here is that there are differences between the two applications, absolutely.

When one looks at construction start, we are really talking a few months and we, if cross-examined, will be able to demonstrate the differences and perhaps why even the NextBridge response in Staff 49 -- and if one reads footnote number 5 on that exhibit, one will see the caveats that NextBridge has assumed regarding weather delays and being able to start construction.

They have not, however, detailed the requirements around species at risk and clearing windows that would, in our view, potentially add additional delay to the construction start of this particular phase of the project.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.  This is my last question.

Right now, HONI doesn't know what the amount for loss of employment, loss of business opportunities are for BLP First Nations?

MR. SPENCER:  We think, when one looks at this over a multi-year period, the course of this project and the generations beyond, there is actually an enhanced benefit to BLP communities.

We have a longer construction period than our competitors and as PWU's lawyer, Mr. Stephenson, referenced yesterday, our schedule is longer in the construction phase and we believe that, and just one point in and of itself, is an opportunity for increased local employment and participation from the communities that have developed a skilled workforce through the aforementioned Supercom training program.  We look forward to the opportunity to work with those same individuals and those same organizations.

So contrary to your point, with respect, we actually believe that our option is beneficial to communities and individuals from those communities, if in fact we are selected to build this project.

MS. GOULAIS:  And if I may add to Mr. Spencer's answer, the other key point here is the -- you referenced impacts on traditional lands and claim -- Aboriginal title claim lands.

Hydro One's project has significantly less of an environmental impact on those lands than our competitor at this hearing.

So in addition to the superior economic benefits Mr. Spencer has referred to, on the impacts on land, Hydro One's project has significantly less of an environmental impact and footprint than the other proposed project.

MS. LEDOUX:  I have no more questions.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Ledoux, I am going to tag on a question to your question.

One of the things Ms. Ledoux, I think, was talking about was delay of employment.  So for those individuals that are ready to work a year earlier, I think you are speaking to overall you think there will be a benefit to those workers, because there be a longer construction period.

But how do you deal with the fact that there are people up and ready to go before your project will be ready?

MR. SPENCER:  So --

MS. LONG:  How do you deal with that impact, I guess.

MR. SPENCER:  So we have a period of -- it is in the order of three to four months, just to give some scale to it, where potentially the other proponent -- and I do underline the word potentially -- would be able to start construction subject to environmental approvals and the conditions thereof around seasonal clearing windows.

So for that period of a few months, there would be some individuals that may not have direct employment in the construction phase.

We, and I suspect the NextBridge proposal as well, will be looking at opportunities for meaningful employment for some of the graduates of that program to help with some of the pre-construction activities, and I am talking about things like establishing camps and the necessary infrastructure that would not -- not require full EA approvals.  However, we could find opportunities for employment during that period, as well as we have talked, looking at opportunities by which we can further continue the training programs that would be to further enhance the skills that we are hoping to be able to leverage on this particular project.

A lot of good work has been done through the Supercom training program.  We have been vocal supporters of it, and we look if there is perhaps in this interim period a way that we could mitigate some of the financial consequence of a slightly later construction period.  We would be happy to look at ways we could continue to train and support the members of that program that would ultimately be able to work with us on this project or maybe other projects around the province.

We are obviously a large infrastructure owner in the province, and we can offer ongoing employment both in the construction trades as well as the maintenance trades.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

That's it for you, Ms. Ledoux?

MS. LEDOUX:  That's it.

MS. LONG:  Thank you for that.

Ms. Strachan, and I understand Mr. Esquega has given you ten minutes of his, so you are going to -- you have half an hour scheduled?

MS. STRACHAN:  Yes, Mr. Esquega generously gifted me with ten extra minutes, so I thank him for that.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Strachan:

MS. STRACHAN:  Can everybody hear me okay?

MS. LONG:  I'm having a little difficulty.  Maybe, can you just move your mic up maybe just a little bit?  Thank you.

MS. STRACHAN:  Hopefully that is better.

So the reference for my first question is found at MNO compendium tab 1, and this is an answer to an undertaking that Hydro One provided.

MS. GOULAIS:  I'm sorry, Ms. Strachan, I can't hear you.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  I am going to skooch forward as far as I can.  Is that better?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, thank you.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  So looking at the response to this undertaking, about halfway down that page, starting at line 18, it states:

"Once engaged on the project, Hydro One would consider accommodation measures such as, and without being limited to, equity participation with Indigenous communities as identified by the Crown."

And so is my reading of this correct that it is Hydro One's position that Métis and First Nations' economic participation is required as an accommodation measure related to the duty to consult?

MS. GOULAIS:  So economic participation is a form of accommodation, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And is that the only reason why Hydro One would enter into economic participation agreements?  Or is there some other driver for these agreements other than accommodation?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the long-term energy plan and the provincial government encourage proponents to consider economic participation on major new transmission development as far as Hydro One is concerned.  So that is one of the reasons why we are considering this.

Hydro One also values the importance of providing economic participation to communities that are impacted by our projects and making sure that they are offered and benefiting from long-term sustainable benefits.

So those are some of the reasons why, mainly it is a recommendation from the provincial government to consider those opportunities.  It is a part of consultation.  And it is -- Hydro One values and understands the importance of ensuring economic participation and long-term sustainable benefits to communities.

We have provided -- I'm sorry, we have a history of doing that, for example, on Bruce-to-Milton, and the Saugeen Ojibway Bruce-to-Milton partnership is an example of where we have been able to achieve that successfully.

So those are the reasons why we are pursuing economic participation for Indigenous communities on this project.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.  That was a really helpful clarification.  I just didn't see anything in your materials that referenced the Ontario policy, so I wanted to know if that was part of your thinking, so thank you for that.

And so I understand that -- and I won't take you to the reference, because I think this is very uncontroversial, but I can if you would like me to.

I understand that there were three community councils represented by the MNO identified by the Crown as requiring consultation.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  I am going to double-check my reference, but I have it right here in front of me.  That's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.  So when I read that in conjunction with the earlier statement from the undertaking, which said that Hydro One would consider accommodation measures with communities identified by the Crown, and including potentially equity, and three MNO community councils were identified by the Crown, I put those together and I think, well, it is possible Hydro One would explore equity with the Métis Nation of Ontario, but I don't see that reflected in other parts of your application, so I would just like a clear yes or no answer.

Are you going to explore equity participation opportunities with the Métis Nation of Ontario?

MS. GOULAIS:  No.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.

I would like to move now to tab 2 of the MNO compendium.  And near the bottom of that first page, and this starts at line 31, it says:

"We have engaged in discussions with the Métis and will first need to understand their expectations in terms of procurement and other contract benefits."

So I understand that the package of economic participation that Hydro One might explore with the MNO is around procurement and other contractual benefits.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.  Consistent with the economic participation your client has with NextBridge.

MS. STRACHAN:  And will you be finalizing this prior to your anticipated leave-to-construct date?

MS. GOULAIS:  So we have been advised by the Métis Nation of Ontario's counsel to not engage in accommodation discussions, given the Métis Nation of Ontario is precluded from having those discussions because of exclusivity agreements that they have with NextBridge.

So we are not having those discussions at the advice of the Métis Nation of Ontario's counsel.

MS. STRACHAN:  And would you have preferred to have negotiated these agreements prior to leave to construct if that option had been open to you?

MS. GOULAIS:  We would have preferred to undertake these discussions with the Métis Nation of Ontario if we had the opportunity, absolutely.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I didn't see it in the materials when you referenced the e-mail from counsel.  I didn't see a date attached to that.  Are you able to clarify on what date you received that?

MS. GOULAIS:  It was not in a piece of correspondence. It was at a meeting we had with the president of the Métis Nation of Ontario and legal counsel from Pape Salter were in attendance.  The meeting was on August 23rd, and we were verbally told that those accommodation discussions are not something that the Métis Nation of Ontario could entertain at this time with Hydro One.

MS. STRACHAN:  So that  was on August 23rd of 2018.

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  And so were you aware before that date of any exclusivity arrangements that the MNO had with NextBridge?

MS. GOULAIS:  At the May technical conference, the president of the Métis Nation of Ontario indicated that they were close to achieving an economic participation agreement with NextBridge and that there were exclusivity agreements in place given that.

So, sorry, let me go back.  Ms. Froh's testimony at the hearing referred to the fact that the Métis Nation of Ontario was close to concluding an economic participation agreement with NextBridge.  That was the first time we were made aware of the status of those discussions.  It wasn't until the August -- let me go back here -- the August 23rd meeting where we were formally told by MNO's counsel that that agreement had been achieved, and the MNO was not currently in a position to have discussions with Hydro One with regards to accommodation, including economic participation.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.  And prior to August 23rd, so prior to knowing that this agreement had been finalized, had Hydro One approached the MNO specifically to discuss economic participation?

MS. GOULAIS:  The nature in which Hydro One approached the Métis Nation of Ontario and the councils was similar to our approach with all of the Indigenous communities, was notifying the Métis councils and the MNO about the project, the terms of reference, seeking the opportunity to meet and have discussions about that.

We, I believe -- and I'll have to -- subject to check, I believe one of our letters to all of the Indigenous communities indicated that we would be willing to have discussions around forms of economic participation.  I will have to check what letter that specifically is.

So the information shared with the Métis Nation of Ontario would have been similar to what all Indigenous communities had received in relation to project notification, EA-related studies, terms of reference, and an offer and willingness to meet to have those discussions.

MR. SPENCER:  And if I may just elaborate on a time stamp, because I think that appears to be one of the helpful points here.

So the question, as I understood it, is when was Hydro One either specifically or generally aware of the exclusivity agreements.

MS. STRACHAN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SPENCER:  So although a bit of an extrapolation, I can take you to a reference that is in our undertakings from the May conference -- and bear with me as I turn it.

It is Exhibit JT2.19, attachment 3, which is, in summary, the presentation to our board of directors and obviously we had a lot of work and lead-up to this.

But if one looks at the bottom of -- it is item 15 in the presentation to the board, slide 15.  It speaks specifically to First Nations and Métis considerations.

And the first -- I will just wait for it to come up on the screen, please.

So the first section here specifically around the First Nations of Métis considerations -- I will just read It:
"Welcome partnerships.  Hydro One Networks will file the leave to construct with the OEB indicating that we welcome First Nations partnerships, but are precluded from discussing specifics of the transmission line and benefits with First Nations communities," and my apologies, that should read First Nation and Métis communities, "due to exclusivity agreements with NextBridge."

So the date on this is December 8th and certainly the lead-up to a board presentation on this project, we would have become aware of it in advance of that date.

So we were not specifically made aware through -- until we had correspondence from we believe it to be BLP's counsel in the spring time, which Ms. Goulais alluded to. But at this point, we had an understanding and we adhered to the request not to discuss economic participation due to the exclusivity agreements with NextBridge.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you, that is helpful.  I did actually have some questions on that timeline, so I am going to -- just give me a moment while I jump to them now, because you have taken me to that topic.

So my understanding then is that you were generally aware that BLP or some First Nations had an exclusivity agreement.  But you mentioned earlier that it wasn't until August 23rd of 2018. So this is some months after December of 2017 is when you were first made aware that the MNO actual had one.

So I am wondering, in all of those intervening months, did you ask the MNO if they could discuss economic participation with you?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, I think Mr. Spencer said we were generally aware that there were exclusivity agreements with some First Nations and potentially the MNO with NextBridge.

That was a question, I believe -- I will have to check -- that was raised at the hearing in May, and I believe it was an undertaking given to NextBridge to indicate who they in fact had exclusivity agreements with and what, if they were willing to share, those exclusivity agreements indicated.

I have to go and check what that undertaking was, but I do remember that was a conversation that happened at the technical hearing.

So in May, we were fully aware that there were very likely exclusivity agreements with -- well, we knew the BLP and we were generally aware that there were -- we were going to be notified that there were exclusivity agreements with the Métis.

We were formally notified and advised by counsel on August 23rd, MNO's counsel, on August 23rd at that meeting. But we also received several letters from the Métis Nation of Ontario in May and, in those letters, it was also indicated that the Métis Nation of Ontario was currently negotiating an economic participation agreement with NextBridge and pursuing that path, which precluded them from having similar discussions with Hydro One.

MS. STRACHAN:  Sorry, I would like to correct that, because there is a letter on the record from the MNO to you on May 16th that makes it very clear that the MNO did not have an exclusivity agreement with NextBridge at that time, and had not had one.

And so my question to you, which you didn't answer, is whether or not Hydro One ever asked the MNO if they had an exclusivity agreement with NextBridge that would preclude them from discussing economic opportunities with Hydro One.

MS. GOULAIS:  We did not specifically ask that question in any correspondence.

As I mentioned, the correspondence the Métis Nation of Ontario would have received would have been similar to all Indigenous communities with regards to a willingness to meet and talk about our project, and have discussions about forms of economic participation on this project.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  So you did not inquire specifically?

MS. GOULAIS:  I don't have written correspondence that specifically asks that question.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.  And so I would like to do a brief thought experiment.  Had Hydro One known, as it could have, that the MNO was not under any kind of exclusivity arrangement with NextBridge back in December of 2017 or January of 2018 -- so prior to Hydro One's filing of its leave to construct -- had you known that, would you have considered pursuing equity with the MNO at that time rather than with BLP, given that BLP was not able to talk to you?

MS. GOULAIS:  So we did not pursue any economic participation discussions of any form before submitting our leave to construct application, which was in February of 2018.

MS. STRACHAN:  But in that leave to construct application, you proposed this equity arrangement with BLP only, this 34 percent equity with BLP --


MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  -- knowing that BLP couldn't talk to you about that arrangement.  So I am just wondering why Hydro One would have taken that approach when there were other Indigenous communities that were free to partner with you at that time.

MS. GOULAIS:  So I am just going to go and find my -- we have a letter from the Bamkushwada Limited Partnership indicating that they are precluded from having those discussions with us, and I need to check the date on that.

MS. STRACHAN:  I think I might be able to clear that up, if you go to tab 7 of the MNO compendium, and attachment 1 to this response is a briefing note from January of 2018.  And specifically on page 5 of that briefing note -- oh, we just went past it, just at the top of this page it says -- there it is.

At the top of this page on the first paragraph, it says:
"Hydro One has not undertaken exchanges with Bamkushwada, nor with Supercom given the alleged exclusivity agreements with NextBridge."

So that makes it fairly clear that in January of 2018, Hydro One was aware of these exclusivity agreements, and that is prior to the filing of your leave to construct application.

So I just thought that might clear up the timeline.

MR. SPENCER:  Just to clear it up, at this point it is an alleged exclusivity agreement.  We were not specifically informed but...

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay, thank you for that clarification.

So my question is, given this likely exclusivity arrangement, that would mean that BLP could not talk to you while NextBridge's application was still proceeding.  Did Hydro One at that time consider partnering with an Indigenous community that was actually free to form a partnership, such as the MNO?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the rationale for considering equity with the Bamkushwada Limited Partnership communities was -- it was consistent with what we had included in our application through the designation proceeding where we had a partnership, Hydro One had a partnership with those communities where those communities would own a third of the -- they would own a third of the project.

It is also consistent with the proposed economic -- sorry, the proposed equity model that NextBridge was pursuing.

So the rationale for -- and then the third piece is, given that the Bamkushwada Limited Partnership communities have identified themselves as the most directly impacted, that was the rationale for considering a path forward with equity with those communities.

The exclusivity agreement issue was something that we, of course, had to consider.  But the three main reasons why we pursued that path, which I have explained, were why we were going do down that path and understanding that those exclusivity agreements, although we didn't understand what were in them, we have never seen them, we still wanted to pursue that path with those Bamkushwada Limited Partnership communities.

MS. STRACHAN:  I would like to go to tab 10 of the MNO compendium.  This is an excerpt from one of the technical conferences, and if we can just scroll to the testimony.

So this was -- actually, Ms. Goulais and I were discussing the tax benefits of partnering with a First Nation and the benefits to ratepayers of that.

And so you didn't mention that in your response, as to why BLP was a preferred partner, but I did understand from your evidence at that hearing and in other places in Hydro One's application that part of the reason why you wanted to form an equity partnership with a First Nation specifically was because of these tax benefits.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  No.  The tax benefit is an added bonus, I guess you can say, for the ratepayers.  It is not a decision-making factor, in terms of who we approach from an equity participation perspective.

As I mentioned earlier, the long-term energy plan and the government's recommendations around, involving Indigenous communities to economically benefit from projects is, again, a part of the rationale for doing this.

The tax benefit, which was a question I got asked at the hearing, at the technical hearing in May, is essentially something that we're familiar with, given our experience on the B2M partnership where the tax benefit is something that ratepayers can benefit from, although I would say it is almost like an added bonus.

It is not something that -- it's not a decision-making factor into whether or not we offer equity to a certain community versus another.  It is an added bonus that I was asked about and gave an answer to at the hearing in May.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  And in that same transcript excerpt on page 1 -- oh, I think it might be -- yes, it is on the page that's in front of you right now.  At line 2 it says:

"First Nations are tax-exempt.  My understanding is that the Métis are not."

And I just wanted to just clarify that very quickly, although -- are you aware that the Métis Nation of Ontario acts through a not-for-profit corporation?

MS. GOULAIS:  I was not aware, but I am, given the letter that the Métis Nation of Ontario sent to Hydro One.

MS. STRACHAN:  Is that the July 25th, 2018 letter?

MS. GOULAIS:  I have it with me.  One second.  I would have to check the date on the letter, but there was a letter Hydro One received from the Métis Nation of Ontario that clearly outlined the Métis Nation of Ontario's potential tax benefit.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  And I had trouble finding that letter in the record.  I tried to find it this morning.  So if it is in the record, I would really appreciate it if you could direct me to where it is.

MS. GOULAIS:  We don't believe it was filed in the record.  It was a letter that had come while the technical hearing was taking place, either the -- I can't remember.  I will have to find it.  I've got it somewhere.  Either the day before, during, or shortly after the technical hearing that letter was received.  So I am -- I will have to find the date for you.  I don't believe it is in the record, but I will find the date for you of the letter.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  Well, I was looking for it specifically in NextBridge IR 33.  You were asked to file copies of all correspondence for, Indigenous communities as expressed -- had expressed concerns, and so I thought that this letter would have been part of that response, and I couldn't find it, so --


MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, what IR was it?

MS. STRACHAN:  This was a NextBridge IR 33 to Hydro One.

MS. GOULAIS:  Which part?

MS. STRACHAN:  I would have to pull it up to check which sub-part it was.

MR. SPENCER:  Oh, part (b).

MS. STRACHAN:  That is the same answer to the IR where you have the long chart that has the log of all of the correspondence, and I didn't see it in that log either, but there was a lot in there, so I may have missed it.

MS. LONG:  Are you saying, Ms. Strachan, that you would like to see this record on the record?

MS. STRACHAN:  I would like to see it on the record, and then I don't have to continue asking questions about this.  I would just think that it would fall under --


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, if it would assist my friend, when we find the letter we are happy to put it on the record.

MS. STRACHAN:  Great, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Let's do that.

MS. STRACHAN:  I'll move on.

MS. LONG:  Can we mark that as an undertaking just so I don't lose track?

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark it as Undertaking J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO PROVIDE THE LETTER REQUESTED BY MS. STRACHAN.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  I would like to go back to tab 2 of the MNO compendium.  And near the bottom of that page, near the bottom of that page it says, starting at line 33, that:

"Hydro One anticipates that benefits to the MNO will be equal to or superior to those offered by NextBridge."

And my question about that is, how can you be certain that you will be able to offer equivalent or superior benefits?

MS. GOULAIS:  So based on the NextBridge response to an interrogatory indicating that the economic participation agreement they had in place with the Métis Nation of Ontario is in relationship to contracting opportunities on this project, Hydro One and its construction partner, SNC-Lavalin, are committed to working with the Métis Nation of Ontario to explore those potential benefits and looking to maximize those for the Métis Nation of Ontario.  That is what this is referring to here.

Sorry, that is my answer.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.  And are you willing to propose that as a condition on your leave-to-construct approval, that you have reached an agreement that is equivalent to or superior to the one that MNO has with NextBridge?  Just yes or no.

MS. GOULAIS:  As a condition to our leave-to-construct application?

MS. STRACHAN:  Yes.

MS. GOULAIS:  No.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.

And I would like to go now to tab 4 of the MNO compendium.  And here I have included an excerpt from the May 7th technical conference, and specifically on page 130 of that excerpt.  And here is NextBridge's witness, starting at line -- about line 13 and 14.  It explains that through consultations with the MNO, NextBridge ended up consulting with two additional MNO community councils, and that those two extra communities ended up becoming part of the economic participation discussions.

So these two community councils are not listed on the Crown's consultation list, and I know Hydro One has indicated that it will consult with them.

And I am wondering, is Hydro One going to include those additional communities in its economic participation negotiations and in an agreement about economic participation?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.  In fact, we met with all of those communities on September 21st and had some discussions around the project itself and, again, the accommodation discussions were not something that we were allowed to have at that point, but those two additional councils that you are referring to, since we received notification from the Métis Nation of Ontario that those communities require consultation on this project, we have since included them as any other community being consulted on this project, and they would be considered, should we be able to reach some form of economic participation agreement, we would take direction from the Métis Nation of Ontario as to whose rights are impacted and who should be included in that agreement.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.

I would like to go now to tab 5 of the MNO compendium, and this is Hydro One's response to OEB Staff IR 10.  And here I believe it is sub-part (d) of this interrogatory, so on the -- yes, (d)(iii) -- and it asks if there are any potential participation costs, and this is referring to First Nation and Métis economic participation, I believe, and you can correct me if I am wrong, if there are any potential participation costs that are not included in the 18 million budgeted by Hydro One, and I believe your response was, no, everything is accounted for within that $18 million budget.  Is that correct?

I can give you a moment.  It is a long IR.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Hi.

MS. STRACHAN:  Hi.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So look, I know the answer says no there, but unfortunately I will give you a correction to that.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  The 18 million that was identified was pertaining to the activities associated with site access and clearing and remediation and so forth.

We do have a number of other construction activities and as we've previously stated, it is our intent to try and maximize the utilization of local communities and Indigenous labour on the construction of this project.  And so embedded into the actual construction numbers associated with this work, there would be opportunities for economic participation accordingly.

MS. STRACHAN:  So I guess my impression of that about $18.5 million was that this was your total estimated cost for Indigenous economic participation in the project.  So that is not correct?  That's not what that number is?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No.  As I said, we will look to maximize the amount of Indigenous participation through the construction stages associated with all aspects of the construction work.

MS. STRACHAN:  I am looking for a number as to how much this participation, including negotiating the agreements and equity and all of that, how much you think that is going to cost you.

I thought that is what this number was, but I am understanding that it's not.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Correct.

MR. SPENCER:  So if I may, I think it is an absolute lower bound.  There is potential for numbers in excess of this.  This panel right now cannot confirm exactly what that number would be.

But based on Hydro One's experience and SNC's experience on construction projects where we have, and specifically SNC-Lavalin has had the benefit of working with local communities, it has been beneficial both to the project success as well as the individuals in fact employed.

So it's entirely reasonable to consider this a lower bound.  And, to Mr. Karunakaran's testimony, we are continually looking for ways to maximize local Indigenous participation on the project.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay, so –

MR. SPENCER:  And there is certainly -- sorry to interrupt, but certainly when compared to the alternative proposal, there is greater opportunity in the construction phase which is in the order of $350 million for us to be able to leverage the skills and experience of the local qualified work force.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  So when you answered this question which was part (d)(iii), where it asked are there any potential participation costs not included in the $18 million and you said no, you're saying actually that is incorrect because 18 million is a lower estimate of what this might cost.

So you don't know what Indigenous economic participation will end up costing?

MS. GOULAIS:  If I may clarify, Ms. Strachan, are you asking if the costs associated with negotiating these agreements are included here?

MS. STRACHAN:  Yes.

MS. GOULAIS:  So the answer to the question, has Hydro One included costs associated with negotiating Indigenous participation agreements, including equity interests, are knows those included in our costs, the answer is no.

The costs associated with negotiating equity participation agreements are not included in our costs.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.

MS. GOULAIS:  Was that maybe what the question was?

MS. STRACHAN:  Sure.  I think I was trying to understand if there was a number somewhere that covered everything associated with Indigenous economic participation.  And I am understanding there isn't a number, sort of a global amount that encompasses all of those things.

MS. GOULAIS:  So my colleague can correct me if I am wrong, but the $18.45 million is related to -- it is in the construction part of our budget and it is related to contracting -- potential Indigenous participation in contracts, employment, that sort of --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.  But that was specific to the areas of site access and clearing and so forth.  As I said in my answer previously, there are other contracting opportunities where we do believe that local communities are best placed to actually conduct that work.  They've got the right levels of skill and they're local to the area to be able to be economically beneficial to the project.

MS. STRACHAN:  Sure.  I don't want to keep belabouring this point.

Is there a number somewhere, or can you estimate a number that includes all of Hydro One's projected costs relating to Indigenous economic participation?  So negotiating the agreements, implementing the agreements, the procurement, the contracting, like is there -- I just -- I thought that is what this 18.5 million was, but clearly that is not what it is.

So I am wondering is there a number that encompasses everything related to Indigenous economic participation?  And maybe there isn't, but....

MS. LONG:  As I understand it, you want the lump sum.

MS. STRACHAN:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  So any costs associated with negotiating, procuring and all of that wrapped together with what the actual, I guess, costs of the services would be --


MS. STRACHAN:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  -- from the Indigenous communities or Métis communities that would participate?  So you want one global number.

MS. STRACHAN:  I thought that is what the 18.5 was, but it isn't.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, it's not.  I'd go forward to say that, as I said, there are other activities associated with the construction that our subcontracting partners have got employment opportunities and so forth.

So if you start to add those numbers in together, it increases what the economic participation that is available to local communities is.

MS. STRACHAN:  Right.  But I am not --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I can't give you a specific right now on how many -- you know, how much that exactly will be.

MS. STRACHAN:  Sure.  And I guess I am not - not that I am not interested.  Obviously, I am interested and my client is interested in the numerical value of those opportunities.  But I guess I am more interested in how much this will cost Hydro One to do, just because we are trying to compare the costs of the two projects and I think we are a little more clear on what it has cost NextBridge to negotiate these agreements and pursue economic participation and I wasn't seeing a number.

So I can move on, but...

MR. SPENCER:  If we could clarify?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  They will add something I'm sure, but just to be clear on it, like, there's certain costs that are associated with negotiating economic participation agreements, which Mr. Spencer and Ms. Goulais will speak to.

But part of our role as the EPC on this project is to procure services for the actual construction phases of the project.  That is already wrapped-up in our lump sum EPC price.  So there is no further cost to Hydro One associated with that.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay, thank you.

MS. LONG:  I hate to do a time check here, but are you nearing the end of your cross-examination?

MS. STRACHAN:  I am, yes, I'm sorry.  Some of the answers and the clarifications have taken a little bit longer than I thought, but I am coming close to the end.

MS. LONG:  I want to be fair because I cut Ms. Ledoux off, so I am going to do the same.

MS. STRACHAN:  If you have something --


MR. SPENCER:  Just a slight elaboration, a reference to point you to, Ms. Strachan.

Hydro One has not included any of the costs associated with negotiating these economic partnership agreements because we don't feel that is a cost that customers and ratepayers should bear.

It is a subtle but important difference between the NextBridge application and ours, and if you were to refer to NextBridge's interrogatory response to Hydro One Networks number 15, their response indicates that they have included those costs for Indigenous participation agreements and any equity interest of Indigenous communities in their construction costs.

So we have not borne our construction costs with those incremental costs, because we don't think that is something the customers should pay for.  That is upon us to negotiate those commercial terms with the Indigenous partners independent of a construction phase of the project.  Thank you.

MS. STRACHAN:  So there is no budget then for negotiating those costs that would be relevant to look at here?

MR. SPENCER:  We have not included those costs in our construction cost estimate, or our development phase estimate.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  So those costs aren't set out anywhere?

MR. SPENCER:  And we are not seeking recovery on those costs.

MS. STRACHAN:  Sure, okay.  Okay, I am almost done.  I would like to just touch on something that Ms. Goulais said earlier, which was that -- and I believe this is what you said, is that accommodation follows consultation usually.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  It is an important part of consultation, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And accommodation can have an economic aspect, I think you've said.

MS. GOULAIS:  It is one -- economic participation is one form of accommodation, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And is it fair to say that economic participation would follow on a spectrum, so a higher form of economic participation as required to accommodate might be something like equity, but there would be a spectrum of economic options?

MS. GOULAIS:  I think that is fair, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  So I just want to connect the dots, and you can just let me know if I have any of this incorrect.

So accommodation flows from consultation, as you said, and so often my understanding is that the duty to accommodate doesn't arise at least until after a consultation has partially taken place, because it is consultation which reveals impacts on rates that might require accommodation.  But in the case of the BLP First Nations, Hydro One had already determined before it filed its leave to construct that BLP alone was going to be offered this highest form of accommodation in the form of equity.  I didn't get any of that information wrong?

MS. GOULAIS:  So just to clarify, there was a significant amount of consultation undertaken with the BLP communities prior to the 2013 designation application.

MS. STRACHAN:  But no other --


MS. GOULAIS:  Consultation --


MS. STRACHAN:  Had been consulted with at that point?

MS. LONG:  Sorry, one at a time, please.

MS. STRACHAN:  Sorry, I just don't want to keep going over -- I know you have already spoken about why you chose BLP, and I think that is all --


MS. GOULAIS:  Well, I was just making clarification, because you said there should be consultation to understand the impacts before accommodation -- a decision about accommodation is made.  So I am providing some context and history that there was a significant amount of consultation with the BLP communities leading up to the 2013 proceeding that provided Hydro One at that time with some indication of what the impacts were and so that we had an understanding of what those impacts were and why an equity participation accommodation measure was something that we were considering.

So I would not agree that consultation with those communities just never existed and we sort of just came up with this idea on our own.  It was based on a historical relationship and consultation that took place before.

MS. STRACHAN:  But there had been no consultation with any other potentially affected communities at that point.

MS. GOULAIS:  Specifically in relation to this project, that's right.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay, thank you.  I'm sorry, I am very, very close.

MS. LONG:  You have about two minutes.  I'm sorry, I do have to keep people to the schedule or we're never going to make it through today.

MS. STRACHAN:  Sure.  I completely understand.

I just have two more things to touch on, and yesterday -- and this is -- we can go to the reference, but I don't think we need to unless you would like to -- yesterday in cross-examination from NextBridge you said repeatedly that reaching an agreement with BLP about equity was a critical assumption to be able to complete the project.  I think that is fair.

And does Hydro One consider reaching an economic participation agreement with the MNO to also be a critical assumption to be able to complete the project?

MS. GOULAIS:  So that was not an assumption referenced in our leave-to-construct application, which you just referenced.  The assumption was specifically to the BLP communities.

What I would say, based on the limited discussions we have been able to have with the Métis Nation of Ontario, is that some form of an economic participation agreement is an important aspect of this project for the Métis Nation of Ontario and something Hydro One has consistently stated it is committed to undertaking.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  But it is not a critical assumption in the same way that equity with BLP is.

MS. GOULAIS:  It wasn't a critical assumption at the time of the leave-to-construct application, but based on the consultation with the limited consultation with the Métis Nation of Ontario to date we understand that that is something valuable and important to the Métis Nation of Ontario and we are fully committed to having those discussions when we are allowed to and reaching that agreement, which I would suggest is a very important aspect of this project, given it is important to the Métis Nation of Ontario if it's going to address potential impacts.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  So just, is it possible to just get a yes or no?  Is it a critical assumption or not, in the same way that the BLP equity deal is a critical assumption?

MS. GOULAIS:  It is not the same in the sense it wasn't included as a critical assumption in the leave-to-construct application --


MS. STRACHAN:  Is it a critical assumption now?

MS. GOULAIS:  -- what I am saying based on the consultation that we have had to date. which is limited. and we haven't been able to have those accommodation discussions, it is a very important aspect of this project and something Hydro One is fully committed to achieving with the Métis Nation of Ontario.

MS. STRACHAN:  So you would characterize it as a critical assumption now?

MS. GOULAIS:  I can't characterize it because we haven't had discussions with the Métis Nation.  I don't understand what those impacts are.  I don't understand what the accommodation measures are, so I can't make a determination as to whether it is critical or not.  That is really up to the Métis Nation of Ontario to work with Hydro One on and for us to work together, is what are the impacts, how are we going to mitigate them, what accommodation measures are appropriate for that mitigation.  Those discussions haven't happened yet.  So I would commit Hydro One to saying that it is a very important aspect of this project and we want to have those discussions when we are allowed to, but I don't know how critical it is because I don't fully understand what the impacts are, what the mitigations are, and what the appropriate level of accommodation is.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay, I don't -- I will move on.

MS. LONG:  I think that is your time, Ms. Strachan.  I have given you --


MS. STRACHAN:  I just -- honestly, I have one more very short --


MS. LONG:  -- much more time --


MS. STRACHAN:  -- very short question.  I'm sorry, I have been trying --


MS. LONG:  This is the last question that you will be asking.  I'm sorry.  People have to respect the time limits.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay, I understand.

And if I could just go to the letter that I e-mailed out this morning, and I believe people should have hard copies, and it is part of the record, but it didn't make it into the MNO's compendium.

I would just like to go to page 6 of that letter, and the second-last paragraph.  And I will just give you a moment to just skim that paragraph, so I won't read it all.

And so that paragraph sets out the MNO's intention to challenge any decision, any leave-to-construct decision or EA approval decision that doesn't comply with Ontario policies and fulfil the duty to consult.

And I am wondering, has Hydro One assessed the impact on its in-service date and the cost if that were to occur?

MS. GOULAIS:  So this letter is dated May 14th, 2018.  We have since met with the Métis Nation of Ontario and have discussed the project, have discussed a path forward --


MS. STRACHAN:  Sorry, that's not -- I didn't -- I am not -- I am just -- I am asking if you have assessed --


MR. WARREN:  It is fair to let the witness answer the question, Madam Chair.  She is providing context for this response to this incendiary letter.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Goulais, please proceed.

MS. GOULAIS:  So this letter is dated May 14th, 2018.  We have since met with the Métis Nation of Ontario and some of the councils and consultation committees, August 23rd and September 21st.  The president of the Métis Nation of Ontario was at the August 23rd meeting.

We have established a path forward, understanding how the councils and the consultation committees want to work with Hydro One.  We have established a path forward on if and when, given the opportunity to have discussions about economic participation, that we will, and we're committed to doing that.

We have also discussed the -- a broader relationships agreement with the Métis Nation of Ontario and Hydro One.  That is not -- that is not in direct relationship with this project, but approaching a broader relationships agreement with the Métis Nation of Ontario so we can work together better in the spirit of cooperation.

So I would say that this letter was sent in May.  We have since met with the Métis Nation of Ontario, we have a path forward, so we are hopeful and confident that those discussions will continue and that we will be able to have those discussions, undertake that consultation, have discussions around economic participation, if and when we are allowed to, within the time frames and within the costs that we have identified.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  I know I am out of time, so I will leave it, and I thank you for allowing me to ask my final question, but I would like to note that the witness did not answer my question.

MS. LONG:  Well, I am not sure.  Your question to the witness, as I understand it, is based on this paragraph, if the Métis Nation appeals an EA assessment and appeals the decision of this Panel.  I am not so sure how she answers the question not knowing what the timing is.

I mean, I am assuming that there would be a delay.  I don't know how -- unless you are able to quantify -- a delay could be years.  I think that is probably what comes out of your decision whether or not Hydro One has contemplated what a delay of -- I don't want to make the question up here.

So, I mean, if this is indicating that it will be years of delay, I don't know how the witnesses answer that question other than:  Have you considered what would happen if there were -- if there was a delay based on a court challenge of a couple of years?  I mean, I think that is a fairer question, because I think it is very hard for a lay witness to, you know -- I don't even know how long an EA challenge would take or a challenge of our decision if it was at the Divisional Court, I don't know how long that would take, so that is a hard question for her to answer.

MS. STRACHAN:  I understand, and I suppose Hydro One has presented sort of extensive risk matrix charts, and some of them dealt with concerns from Indigenous communities, and there is percentage ratings and projected delays, and I guess I was wondering if Hydro One had considered specifically a court challenge in its risk matrix anywhere and if they could point me to that.  And perhaps they haven't, and perhaps there's reasons why they can't, and that is fine.  But I was wondering if it was represented anywhere in the risk assessments that they've undertaken.

MS. LONG:  I think that's a better question.  I think that is a question that you can answer.

MR. SPENCER:  We have not considered that a credible risk.  You are speaking to the consequence dimension of risk, and Ms. Goulais was speaking to the likelihood dimension.

So through the -- what appears to be an improving relationship since this letter was sent, certainly the likelihood of this occurrence, from our perspective on this panel, has been substantially reduced and it's not a credible scenario that we would put into a risk methodology matrix to come up with an impact on this particular project.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay, thank you, that is helpful.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Mr. Esquaga?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Esquaga:


MR. ESQUEGA:  Hello.  I would like to start off my questions concerning the current relations with Biinijitiwabik Zaaging Anishnaabek, who is my client.

MS. LONG:  I am sorry to interrupt you, Mr. Esquega. You have a compendium of documents, do you?

MR. ESQUEGA:  That's correct, I do.

MS. LONG:  Can we mark that, please?

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K 3.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1: BZA CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR HONI PANEL 1


MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, we don't have a copy of it.  If it is going to be referred to....

MS. LONG:  Let's get the witnesses the compendium, please.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Just so you know, we may actually refer to the SNC-Lavalin redacted contract as well.  It is not in the compendium.  It is quite a large document, but I am really only concerned about one paragraph in that document.

Now, Ms. Goulais, I understand from your testimony yesterday that you did have some time to review some of the materials that are in that compendium.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you are familiar with what is in there?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, I am.  I think the only -- I think the chief's affidavit was the new piece of information and I have read it.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So since HONI has become involved, I understand that you have reached out to BZA now in an attempt to -- I will refer to my client as BZA, just so we have a short, brief abbreviation here.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, we have.  We have reached out to BZA.  We have had two meetings with BZA, and we have hosted a community information centre in the community to provide that information to the community broadly.

So yes, we have had some meetings and discussion with BZA.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And the chief has expressed some concerns about the rights of the community.  Is that fair to say?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I understand that a meeting actually occurred last week.

MS. GOULAIS:  I believe the last -- I would have to go back and check, but I am not sure on the exact date.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I was provided with notes of a meeting that occurred on September 28th, just yesterday, from my client that was forwarded to them from your office -- not from your office, but from Hydro One.

So it is fair to say that as of last week, you had a meeting with a number of the councillors.  I understand that members of HONI were present -- not yourself.

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct, yes.  I wasn't there, but you are right.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And someone from the contractor was there?

MS. GOULAIS:  A SNC-Lavalin representative was there.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Were you briefed on this meeting?

MS. GOULAIS:  I have not been fully briefed on the meeting.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Are you the lead for Indigenous consultation on this file?

MS. GOULAIS:  I am, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  You haven't been fully briefed.  Have you been briefed at all?

MS. GOULAIS:  I understand that the meeting took place and sort of the high-level discussion topics at the meeting, but I wasn't there myself.  But I do understand that there were some discussions around the capacity funding agreement and Chief Hardy's concerns around some of the potential impacts and land impacts.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you are familiar with the fact that the chief advised that he wanted some more time to review the terms of reference as well?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And he has actually asked HONI to come in and help with that, in terms of explaining to the community?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  You are also familiar with the fact that the chief made it very clear at that meeting that he expects that his community will be directly involved in this project?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, we are aware of that.

MR. ESQUEGA:  He told you he is expecting training, resources, equity, and procurement opportunities?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Is that right?  And just so we are clear here, BZA is not a member of the BLP communities, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.  As far as I know, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you know that BZA is actually quite close to the transmission line, although not directly beneath it, very close?

MS. GOULAIS:  I believe they are approximately 50 kilometres from the line.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And BZA has been more than willing to meet with you.  They don't have an exclusivity agreement that prevents them from talking to you, is that right?  I see you nodding your head.

MS. GOULAIS:  As far as I understand, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  We just need to have yeses and nos, if that is possible, so the court reporter and this court can pick up your answers.

So as of now, there is nothing precluding you from offering a full suite of economic participation benefits to my client?

MS. GOULAIS:  There are economic participation opportunities for BZA, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I understand that the CFA, the capacity funding agreement, is being negotiated right now as well.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And I understand from your testimony here so far, just to summarize it, there has only been four communities that have signed it as of now.

MS. GOULAIS:  We have five communities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Five communities.  And potentially BZA, if that works out?

MS. GOULAIS:  We're very hopeful, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Now, in terms of the equity question, I need to go here with you because we're not clear as to what HONI's position is on this.

If I could start at tab 5 of the BZA compendium, page 31 of the compendium.  I am going to try to refer to the pages of the compendium which are the small number at the bottom of hopefully the drafts that you have there.

When we had the technical conference back in May, I understand that you were a witness there.  Although they spelled your name wrong in the transcript, I believe they are referring to your evidence, is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And I asked you a question about whether or not equity would be available to BZA, and there is an answer from you where you say:
"In terms of equity participation, that is an undertaking we will have to take in terms of understanding whether or not that opportunity that would be available to create outside of the BLP communities."

So at that point we have, we don't have a no answer, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And then if we look at your response to that undertaking, which is at tab 6, page 37 of the compendium, the answer there is:
"Once engaged on the project, Hydro One would consider accommodating measures such as and without being limited to equity participation with Indigenous communities as identified by the Crown, as well as capacity funding to participate in the engagement process."

So again there is no no answer to whether or not BZA will be offered equity.  Is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  I am just following.  Yes, that is what that says, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And then for the combined hearings, we approached the equity question again with HONI.

And if we turn to your compendium -- my compendium, sorry, at tab 8, page 60, the question at number 1 was whether or not HONI will offer economic participation agreements with equity options to all the affected First Nation and Métis communities, only those of BLP.

There is a distinction here.  We're talking about all of the affected First Nations and Métis communities, or only BLP communities.  And when we look at your answer, you don't talk about any other communities, other than BLP and MNO.  Is that fair to say?

MS. GOULAIS:  So we talk about -- you are referring to part 3, right?

MR. ESQUEGA:  No.  Question number 1, answer number 1.

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, I was looking at number 3.

MR. ESQUEGA:  It is clear from your answer you are only referring to BLP and MNO in that answer.  There is no reference to BZA or any of the other Indigenous communities.

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And again, question number 2 we get specific again to, question number 2, (ii):

"What equity will be offered to each First Nation and Métis community?"

And again, your answer to that (ii) is:

"As previously stated, Hydro One is prepared to offer a 34 percent equity interest to BLP."

Again, no reference to my client or any other First Nation or Métis community.

And I guess my question here today is we want a clear answer:  Will equity be offered to BZA?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the answer is, equity participation opportunity -- which is one form of accommodation -- is being offered to BLP.  There are other forms of economic participation that we are looking to work with other communities, Indigenous communities, on this project, other forms of economic participation.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay.  But the question I am asking is equity --


MS. GOULAIS:  Currently the equity participation opportunity, specifically this 34 percent equity interest, is currently offered only to the BLP communities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So the question I am asking is, will any equity, in addition to that 34 percent -- that's fine, we are not trying to get out of paying that 34 percent.  There is no issue from my client with respect to that, but BZA wants to know if they're going to be offered any equity in this project, and the chief asked that question last Friday.  He raised that issue last Friday in the meeting, and I am here in a public forum asking this question.  And we want an answer, yes or no, whether or not BZA will be offered equity in this project.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Esquega, I understand your concern, but our concern here is with respect to the leave to construct.  And the Board is not going to -- it is not before us whether or not equity participation is offered to certain groups.

It is relevant to us as we consider what we can consider, so delay and costs.  So I am wondering if you are able to bring that into the context of what we consider.

I understand that your client has a concern about this and it was raised at our last hearing with respect to development costs, and I think you are updating us on the progress.  But to the fact that -- to the -- your ability to kind of help us along, I mean, I think you can establish here that no agreement has been reached, and so there is a risk there, obviously, with respect to timing and costs.  But I don't know how helpful it is for us --


MR. ESQUEGA:  With all due respect, Madam Chair, the lawyer for Métis Nation of Ontario just asked questions prior to me, and the very specific question that was asked of these witnesses is whether or not Métis Nation of Ontario would be offered equity in this project, and the answer was put to them and they answered.

We would ask that we be permitted the same level of opportunity to present that question and obtain an answer.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  But, I mean, I guess to the extent you can answer that question, I think the witness was able to answer that question, and we have spent a bit of time on this now.

So you have other questions beyond this, I am assuming?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Absolutely, yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So are you able to answer that question at this point?

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think I have answered the question about, the answer is consistent with what is in the interrogatory that 34 percent currently -- the 34 percent equity interest is currently for BLP.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So is there an opportunity for BZA to get equity in this project yet?

MS. GOULAIS:  There is an opportunity to have discussions with BZA about project impacts and forms of accommodation, including economic participation.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Which may include equity?

MS. GOULAIS:  I don't know.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Surely if the answer was no you would say that here today?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the answer is, we need to understand, through the consultation process, what the impacts are and what forms of accommodation are appropriate, and as we have discussed today, there are several forms of economic participation that -- and from what the chief's affidavit and from the meeting last week, there are other forms of economic participation beyond equity that the chief has expressed are of interest to him and his community:  jobs, contracting, employment, training, all of those things, which we have said several times that we are willing to work with communities on.  So I think that is my answer.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay.  So you are not saying no today?

MS. GOULAIS:  I have answered the question.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So you are not saying no?  Can we agree to that?  And you can't say no because yesterday you just learned, as the lead on this file, that BZA has an outstanding Aboriginal title claim.

MS. GOULAIS:  That's right.  That is the first time we have been informed of that.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Right?  It would be premature for you to come here today and say that, no, you do not get equity, because you have not fully consulted with BZA.  The levels have been very high-level and not fully engaged.  Is that fair to say?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, and I think I've answered the question.  I think what I said, and I will say it again, is we need to undertake more fulsome consultation with BZA as with some other communities to fully understand the impacts and the forms of accommodation, if appropriate, BZA is interested in.

I fully agree with you that those conversations and that consultation needs to continue moving forward so that we can understand what the impacts are, how we can mitigate them, and what forms of accommodation are appropriate.

So I would agree with you that, yes, that consultation needs to continue.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.

And you mentioned the other forms of accommodation, and we don't really have a record of precisely what that is.  We have heard from NextBridge in terms of the programs that they have offered with BLP and Supercom, but we don't have anything like that from HONI, because HONI appears to be relying upon the work that's already been done.  Is that fair to say?

MS. GOULAIS:  Relying on the work that's been done?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Through Supercom and the training programs?

MR. SPENCER:  So in our view is this panel at least -- the groundwork that has been laid by Supercom as the commercial arm of Bamkushwada is beneficial not only to the communities they support but also to any proponent that will be selected to build this project.  It is a very strategic and important move that I think the communities should be commended for to be able to put that program in place and ensure there is in fact a skilled available work force from which the ultimate constructor can draw upon.

That program has received funding from a number of different agencies and companies, and Hydro One would dearly love the opportunity to participate and support that program.

We see it being beneficial not just for this one project, but also for the ongoing infrastructure needs across our entire system in northwestern Ontario and beyond.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And in terms of your relationship with your contractor, SNC-Lavalin, I am not sure you can answer this question, but you have mentioned that they have been directed to deal with ensuring that the opportunities are being provided to the Indigenous communities.  Is that right?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, and the division of responsibilities, SNC-Lavalin has that direct accountability working under our guidance.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And we have a redacted copy of the agreement, the contract agreement, in the file, right?

MR. SPENCER:  It is filed in Exhibit JT2.22 from the May period, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Has that contract been executed already?

MR. SPENCER:  No.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So it is a draft.

MR. SPENCER:  It is an execution-ready contract.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And my understanding that there is Indigenous contracting opportunities is only mentioned in one place in that contract, and it is a generic reference.  And I will take you to the article, Article 6.8.

And please correct me if I'm wrong, it is a very long contract, but that is the only reference that I was able to locate with respect to Indigenous contracting opportunities.

MR. SPENCER:  We are just familiarizing ourselves with it again, so bear with us.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And it says, at the end of Article 6.8, with respect to subcontracting, it says that:

"The contractor shall endeavour to provide subcontracting opportunities for the work to qualified community members of and businesses owned or controlled by First Nation and Métis communities where reasonable, and report such contracting to the owner."

You are familiar with that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is correct, that is what the clause says.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Am I correct to conclude that this is the only part of the contract that makes reference to any form of subcontracting opportunities to Indigenous communities?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So this is a reference to -- as a guideline for subcontracting opportunities.  But as I previously stated in testimony to Ms. Strachan's questions, as an organization we are looking to maximize the amount of participation of Indigenous communities in the construction of this contract.

As an organization, we have a long track record of doing so.  In particular, even in the energy industry through to the works that we had done with the Five Nations energy infrastructure project, we were a key member in that with our subcontracting partners in ensuring that.  This was the first time a First Nation's energy TFO was actually established in Ontario.

MR. ESQUEGA:  But in terms of contractual obligations, this is the only reference that is available to any contractual obligations on this issue, is that right?

MR. SPENCER:  This may be the only contractual reference, but this is the spirit of the relationship between Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin.

I think we have testified and in written evidence and testimony and interrogatories our intention is certainly to maximize local Indigenous hiring.

And to be frank, it is an absolute benefit for the project as much as it is for the communities and the individuals that get that benefit of employment during the phase ever the contract.

So again, we're absolutely committed.  Perhaps this isn't the right clause we would actually want to detail out in a contractual obligation, because my view personally is that the nature of the relationship between us and SNC-Lavalin and then how they draw upon the skilled and qualified labour from the areas is not something we can write in black and white in a contract.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So in terms of directing SNC-Lavalin, it is your position that you cannot put a specific clause in here to ensure that you contract with a specific Indigenous communities that are at issue in this proceeding?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I think we already said that we're looking to maximize the opportunities available, and what Mr. Spencer was also saying is, and it is our true view on this, is that the employment of local community members is going to be of economic benefit not just to those communities, but also to the project as a whole.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay.  I will move on then.  I would like to talk to you about the issue of the consultation and the level of consultation.

If we turn to tab 11 of the BZA compendium, and this is in response to OEB Interrogatory No.11 at page 78, and I have seen this sort of language in other parts of the brief so far.

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, Mr. Esquega, you are on page 78?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes, of the compendium.

MS. GOULAIS:  Okay, I am with you.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Towards the end of that paragraph where it starts:  "Although this is something the Ministry of Energy is required to provide as part of the MOU with Hydro One regarding consultation on projects...," and this is referring to the level of consultation issue, you say that the March 2nd, 2018, delegation letter only identified 18 communities as rights-based, and therefore Hydro One was not provided with depth consultation -- the depth of consultation required for each community, but instead was directed to consult with all of them equally.

So as of now, you have never been provided with any sort of direction as to who should be consulted more on any aspect of this project?

MS. GOULAIS:  We have not received that detail from the Ministry of Energy, no.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you've said that normally you have a MOU.

MS. GOULAIS:  We do have a memorandum of understanding with the provincial Crown, signed with the Ministry of Energy at the time, that outlines both the Crown and Hydro One's key roles and responsibilities with regards to consultation.  So that MOU exists.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Have you followed up with the Ministry of Energy on this issue to see if they can provide some further guidance?

MS. GOULAIS:  We have.  We have followed up.  I believe this is a response to one of the interrogatories as well.

We have had some follow-up conversations with the Ministry regarding this delegation letter, but we have nothing different than what's been provided.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And with respect to monitoring of the consultation activities, I believe -- sorry, tab 9 of the BZA compendium, which is in response to BLP's Interrogatory No.8 in the combined hearing at page 72, they asked you if any -- sorry, I will wait until you turn to it.

I am referring to your answer at small letter (b).  This is in response to BLP's question as to whether or not any Crown agencies asked you for monthly updates on the consultation activities.  And your answer was that monthly updates have not been requested.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.  And I believe there is a caveat above that, because the question specifically asks --


MR. ESQUEGA:  If we can turn to the first page to look at the specific question.

MS. GOULAIS:  Part (b) says:
"Specify which regulators, if any, have requested monthly updates to consultation summaries and logs, and provide these monthly updates."

And the response to (b) caveat is the regulator refers to the regulator over the EA process referenced in the terms of reference, which is MECP.  The answer is monthly updates have not been requested.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So this is only dealing with the EA process.

MS. GOULAIS:  This is dealing with the EA process referenced in the terms of reference, which is the regulator would be the Ministry of Environment, Conservation and Parks.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So has any one from the Ministry of Energy been monitoring your consultation activities in this proceeding?

MS. GOULAIS:  So you are asking specific -- we are not on this anymore?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Not specific to the EA process.

MS. GOULAIS:  We have not received any.  I think, again, that was an interrogatory response we provided.  The Minister of Energy has not provided us with anything further beyond the delegation letter with regards to this project.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And if we could turn to that delegation letter, it is at tab 4.  I have reviewed this a few times now, and it looks like the only place you were asked to report on anything is at the last page of the delegation letter at page 16.

It appears that they only want to know if new communities come forward.

MS. GOULAIS:  That's right.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So since that time, no one from the Ministry of Energy has asked you for updates on the consultation progress?

MS. GOULAIS:  On this project, no.

MR. ESQUEGA:  No one has evaluated your efforts to consult as of now?

MS. GOULAIS:  The Ministry of Energy?  No. I am sure Ms. Croll would have a different answer if the question was about the various ministries, particularly the Ministry of Environment, Conservation, and Parks, in relation to the Indigenous consultation aspect of the environmental assessment.

I believe a lot of information has been filed in response to those similar questions.  Specifically the Ministry of Energy?  The answer is no.  But I would assume, based on the information provided to date, Ms. Croll would have a different answer in terms of the regulator's commenting on Indigenous consultation on the EA.

MR. ESQUEGA:  My question is very specific to Ministry of Energy only, who delegated the procedural aspects of the duty to consult.  And as far as you are aware, there has been no request for updates and there has been no monitoring or evaluation of your Crown consultation obligations that you have assumed for them?

MS. GOULAIS:  They have not asked for any updates.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.  The final area that I would like to go into today is with respect to the conditional order issue.

I don't want to -- I am going to try my best not to repeat any question that has already been done, but it is something that I need to go into again, because if we look at your Board briefing from January, which was already provided in or referenced to earlier today.  That's page 43 of the compendium.  At the last sentence of the first paragraph, there is a statement there which says that:

"HONI expected that the OEB would be interested in considering the matter of First Nation partnerships in the overall context of the leave-to-construct process.

And I am just curious to know what you meant by "we expect the OEB will be interested"

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SPENCER:  So I had a hand in helping write this paragraph, so I should explain it.  The context here was that, from our understanding at least, some of these matters are not directly within the OEB's role and mandate.  So the comment here was that, you know, we expect that they will be interested in the context of the entire application around the topic of not only consultation and likelihood of obtaining environmental assessment approvals, but also what foreseeable partnership and participation opportunities may look like.

So that is the context behind that sentence.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And in this sentence it doesn't say specifically that they would be interested in considering matters of First Nation partnerships with BLP only.  It is my interpretation when I look at this clause, it looks like we're dealing with all of the affected First Nations.  We are not just focusing on one or a group of First Nations.  Is that fair to say?

MR. SPENCER:  In the context of this sentence it is a general statement around the procedural aspects of section 92 and the Board's role.  It was not intended to be specific to one community or the other.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Because surely, as you mentioned, HONI has a longstanding relationship with Indigenous communities in Ontario, and you would be mindful of the fact that there are many other communities in this area other than BLP that you would have to consult with.  Right?

MR. SPENCER:  Absolutely, and I think Ms. Goulais has reinforced that commitment and understanding on multiple occasions.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you knew that from your 2013 consultation activities.

MS. GOULAIS:  2013.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yeah, you mentioned some earlier consultations.

MS. GOULAIS:  Right.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes.  The next paragraph you say:

"If OEB feels that the Hydro One's proposal is compelling and in the interests of electricity consumers, the OEB could elect to award LTC, the LTC, to Hydro One, on a conditional basis, subject to reaching agreement with First Nation partners within a short period of time, say 45 days."

And you say:

"This will be signalled in our LTC application."

So at least by this point you are telling your Board that you are going to submit an application to the Board and you are going to suggest that it be conditional on you fulfilling your duties to consult with all the Indigenous communities, not just BLP.  Is that fair to say?

MR. SPENCER:  I wouldn't characterize it in that light per se.

So this is a January 15th follow-up to our December 8th Board meeting, and one of the topics of conversation with our Board was, what would the potential economic participation look like, what would the timing be, procedurally how would we go about doing so, and this entire section, these multiple paragraphs, are potentially one avenue that we did discuss and present to our Board, and, as I believe it states, hopefully clearly, it is for consideration by the Ontario Energy Board.  It is not a foregone conclusion.

Certainly we understand the need to ultimately reach economic participation agreements, and to our previous testimony today, we have every intention of pursuing those in a relatively short period of time.

Ms. Goulais, I believe, has spoken to the circumstance around BZA specifically and the process we hope to undertake to further understand the impacts and then all the way through to potential mitigation and what different forms of economic participation that could take.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay.  But a month later in February 15, 2018, I would refer you to tab 3 of my brief, page 5, with respect to Indigenous consultation and this conditional leave-to-construct issue, it is what you proposed in your leave-to-construct application.  Wouldn't you agree with that?  It is the very last sentence, or two sentences, sorry.  It says:

"As part of this application Hydro One is requesting to receive a minimum of 45 days to negotiate any necessary agreements with Indigenous communities --


MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, Mr. Esquega, I am on page 5, which is the chief's affidavit.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Tab 3 of my compendium.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Page 13.

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, I thought you said 5.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Sorry, I should have should have referred to the compendium pages, not your schedule page.

MS. GOULAIS:  Okay.

MR. ESQUEGA:  But clearly here from my perspective that is what you are proposing.  You are proposing a conditional leave to construct on your ability to negotiate the necessary agreements with Indigenous communities upon approval of this application.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think to answer the question we have -- I think I have clarified this 45-day reference several times.  And the sentence that you are reading:

"As part of this application Hydro One is requesting to receive a minimum of 45 days to negotiate any necessary agreements with Indigenous communities upon approval of this application."

So that, again, that 45-day time frame is specific to reaching agreeable terms on a commercial partnership.  That is what this is about.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So is it your position now that what you are saying in your briefing note from January of 2013 to your Board and what is noted in this paragraph are two different things?  Because when you read your briefing note and your answers to my questions just previously with respect to that, you acknowledge that this would be a conditional bid in that briefing note to your Board as one of the options.

MR. SPENCER:  So our intention was to present one possible consideration for the Energy Board's review, and they will ultimately decide what the appropriate conditions may be.

We certainly remain committed to establishing this commercial -- the terms of this commercial partnership on a relatively short period.  We have thrown a time period here of 45 days out, and I think certainly a lot of the discussion lies ahead of us around what that economic participation might look like, and previous reiteration that with some communities at least we are precluded and excluded from having those conversations right now.

So we look forward to the opportunity, when we can fully discuss not being bound by any contractual obligations they are currently under with other parties.  I acknowledge that is not the case in your client's circumstance, but from a generalities perspective, we feel that now is not the right time for us to discuss economic participation.

MS. LONG:  So Mr. Spencer, can you clarify for the record, are you seeking this as a condition of our approval in this leave to construct?  yes or no?

MR. SPENCER:  We are not specifically seeking it.  It is at the Panel's discretion on what the conditions would be.  But we are not specifically --


MS. LONG:  It is not a claim in your order that the order would be conditional upon this?

MR. SPENCER:  No, it is a suggestion, not a claim.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.  I am being very mindful of my time here.  I will move along quickly.  I can assure you I am getting close to the end of this.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Now, one issue that you have raised in a response to one of BZA's interrogatories, Interrogatory No.1 at tab 8...

MR. SPENCER:  Page reference, please?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Page 54 of the compendium.  In that application, we have asked for a record of our consultation and I believe you did provide the charts which we have referred to today.

I am not going to get into details there, but there is the last sentence where you say:
""Hydro One would like to note that the substance of Indigenous consultation is not a matter within the consideration of the OEB under section 92."

I am curious to know why that is there.

MR. SPENCER:  As broad as the knowledge and experience of Ms. Goulais may be, this one I would actually refer to our counsel, Mr. Warren, to elaborate upon, please.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I am just concerned because this is an answer in evidence, and I don't think your counsel is in the witness box right now answering questions on the evidence that you presented in this proceeding.

MR. SPENCER:  Fair enough.  In that context, I can answer.  So to the best of the understanding of the members of this panel in our entirety, the statement filed in evidence is correct, and our understanding at least is it is not a matter within the jurisdiction of the OEB under section 92 of the OEB Act.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So earlier I referred to a statement in your board briefing where you said, "We expect the OEB will be interested in considering the matters of First Nation partnerships."

When you make that statement, you are not -- you're saying that you are not thinking that the Board has any concerns about consultation in this proceeding?

MR. SPENCER:  I won't presuppose the concerns the Board may have, but I am sure they're interested in impacts on obtaining necessary approvals and permitry and schedule and cost, all of which have some connection, of course, to meaningful consultation.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And if this Board were to order a conditional order, wouldn't you agree that that would be the Board being concerned with Indigenous consultation if they followed your suggested order?

MR. WARREN:  What suggested order, Mr. Esquega?  In response to the...

MR. ESQUEGA:  Sure.  We have been talking about...

MR. WARREN:  The Chair's question, you asked whether or not that was part of the relief they were seeking and the unequivocal answer was no, it was not.

Now issues with respect to --


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Warren, can you use your mic, please?  We can't hear you back here.

MR. WARREN:  Issues with respect to jurisdiction, Mr. Esquega, I'm sure you and I would be happy to argue them to the extent they're relevant, but...

MR. SPENCER:  We will certainly adhere to any conditions the Board would impose upon us as a section 92 being granted leave.

MR. ESQUEGA:  If the Board were to make such an order in relation to the consultation issue, then the Board would be assuming jurisdiction of that issue?

MR. SPENCER:  I think we're into subject matter here that is beyond this panel's specific knowledge and around jurisdiction of the OEB, and I believe the previous exchange allows an opportunity to discuss and argue this point at a future time.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Esquega, can you clarify your question because your question was in respect of our order in relation to consultation.

Did you mean in respect of economic participation, the 45-day window?  Is that the condition that you are speaking of, or is it a different condition?

MR. ESQUEGA:  I agree with my friend in terms of there is a legal issue with respect to this particular question.

However, the evidence in this proceeding has been they were seeking a conditional order, which would be contingent on 45 days of consulting and entering into partnership agreements with the Indigenous communities.

And we have heard, for the first time yesterday and today, that they're not seeking that order.  However, previously we've made submissions before this Board at the motion hearings that an order would be an appropriate tool for the Board to ensure that the consultation issue is addressed.

The question I simply put was if -- because they maintain there is no jurisdiction of this Board with respect to consultation.  However, if this Board -- we will leave that issue aside because we will argue about that.  We have already done part of that we will deal with that again.

But if this Board were to order a condition on fulfilling the consultation obligations as they initially thought about proposing in their materials, then the Board would have jurisdiction because you would have jurisdiction to enforce your order.

MS. LONG:  I just wanted you to be very clear on the question that you are asking them.  So if you are asking them with respect to consultation in general, that is one thing, or if you are asking them in consultation with respect to reaching an agreement within the 45 days.

I just want you to distinguish so they know which question they are answering, and I know what you are asking.

MR. ESQUEGA:  The problem I have, though, is that when you -- say you were to proceed with that 45-day window to try to negotiate a deal, that is consultation, right?  You are consulting with a view to getting an agreement done with some First Nations?

It is not simply a commercial transaction.  Is that fair to say?

MS. GOULAIS:  I think that is fair to say, and the idea would be that the consultation -- given that this 45-day timeframe that we have included is post leave to construct approval, that the consultation would have started and had been on a good path, right.

So the idea -- and I think what we have been trying to communicate over the last couple of days is that the consultation is ongoing and we have, in fact, been able to undertake consultation even with those communities that have exclusivity agreements, because we can have those discussions around impacts and understanding of what those are, capacity funding agreements, all of those things, right.

The accommodation discussion comes after understanding what those impacts are.

So I would agree with you that consultation is a much longer process than 45 days, and it in our consultation plan and in all of the evidence we have submitted is that our approach to consultation is long-term throughout the project, even post-construction.

So I would agree with you that consultation is a much longer time frame than 45 days, and that 45-day timeframe was something that we included as, I guess, a level of commitment that we want to be able to reach an agreement in a reasonable timeframe.  But as we have stated, that 45-day window is not intended to close-off any discussions post-45 days.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.  So just to be clear, that 45 days would be part of the consultation process, and would be open to all of the communities who you feel that you should be entering into partnership agreements to, not just those of BLP?

MS. GOULAIS:  So to clarify, the 45-day timeframe that we included in our original leave to construct filing was specific to a commercial partnership.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I'm sorry, I didn't see that in the materials that we just looked at.  Again, it is at page 13 of the compendium.  There is nothing there that says you need to enter into commercial arrangements.

I apologize, Board, I acknowledge that I have gone over my time now and this is my last question.

MS. LONG:  Your last question, okay.

MS. GOULAIS:  If you can just give me a minute to find the reference.  So just in the interests of not wasting anybody's time, I would like to look for that reference, but I don't want to spend everyone's time sitting here looking for it.

MS. LONG:  You are looking for the reference with respect to the 45 days?  Is that what you are looking for?

MS. GOULAIS:  The leave to construct application, that's right.

MS. LONG:  Can we get the leave to construct application up?  That would be the first part with respect to...

Mr. Murray, are you able to tell me?  Is Mr. Henderson on the line?  Yes?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Can I refer you to page 16 of B-01-01.  And also, it is noted from our quick search here at B-07-01, page 83.

MS. LONG:  Is this what you were looking for, Ms. Goulais?

MR. SPENCER:  What was the second reference, if I may?  We have got the B-1-1.

MR. ESQUEGA:  B-07-01, page 83.

MR. SPENCER:  Thank you.

MR. ESQUEGA:  These are the only other references we could find with respect to -- oh, sorry, there is one more.  H-01-01, page 561.

MR. SPENCER:  Unfortunately those page references don't match the hard copy.  Those are likely the PDF references.  Do you have the hard-copy reference?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 12.  Can I take you to Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1, page 7 of 12.  And in there you set out your conditions on your leave to construct under your key assumptions, number 5.  Sorry, number 4.  This is where you deal with the 45-day order.

Perhaps I could help you with the issue that we are talking about.  It is page 7 of 12.  It is up on the screen now before you.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.  We are just looking for another reference.

So just to respond to the question about the 45-day time window.  So that 45 days which we have up here on our initial application in February, we did provide some clarity around what that 45-day time window is in our additional evidence filed in May in advance of the technical hearing.

So we are looking for the reference that we provide some clarity around the 45-day time frame as specifically related to negotiating the terms of a commercial partnership.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Can you just confirm that what we are looking at here in small number (iv), Roman number (iv), this is part of your leave-to-construct application?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's right.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And number (iv) would be one of the conditions that you are proposing as part of your application?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.  That is what that says, and we are looking for the reference where we provide some clarity on that in our additional evidence in May.

MS. DeMARCO:  Perhaps I can be of assistance.  I believe it is page 44 of your additional evidence.  Bottom of the page numbered 41.

MS. GOULAIS:  Thank you for that help.  That's right.

So the -- so Mr. Esquega's correct in the language in the leave-to-construct application.  The clarity we provided in our May materials are additional evidence in May on page 41 -- thank you, I'm sorry, for your help in finding that -- it indicates that the 45-day time frame is in relation to finalizing any terms and conditions that may be agreed upon between Hydro One and the six First Nation partners in Bamkushwada Limited Partnership.  So it clarifies the 45-day time frame as contingent on OEB approval of Hydro One's leave-to-construct application and clarifies that it is in relation to finalizing terms and conditions for a commercial partnership.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Well, clearly, though, in your leave-to-construct application and in the Board briefing we're referring to not just BLP in any of the -- in any of these other documents.  We are referring to Indigenous communities as a whole.

MR. WARREN:  But if you read the application it says "directly affected".  That is an important modifier, Mr. Esquega, which I would appreciate if you do not gloss over.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Well, it's the directly affected communities, right, as your counsel said.  And you have been directed by Ministry of Energy in a letter identifying 18 of those communities for you to consult with on an equal basis, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And no one has ever told you what communities are less directly affected?

MS. GOULAIS:  The Bamkushwada Limited Partnership communities have indicated in their evidence that they are the most directly impacted communities.  We don't have any -- you are correct, we don't have that from the Ministry, and we have included that in our evidence.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So you are throwing BLP under the bus right now and suggesting that because they say that they're the most directly affected then all of the other communities are not?

MS. GOULAIS:  No.  I am providing you with the evidence that we have, indicating communities that have classified themselves as most directly impacted.  I don't think the statement of me throwing anybody under the bus is appropriate, but I would say that the evidence that the BLP communities have submitted in all of their affidavits and all of their evidence to date, that is the language that they have used, which from a consultation and accommodation perspective signals to us that they -- those impacts are impacts that we need to explore with those communities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  But your obligation pursuant to your procedural duty delegated by the Ministry of Energy is to determine that.

MS. GOULAIS:  So our obligation through the delegation of consultation from the Ministry is to consult with all communities, which we have been doing.

MR. ESQUEGA:  But you have only been doing that for a short while, and as you mentioned today with respect to my client specifically you are still quite a ways away from fulfilling that duty.

MS. GOULAIS:  We filed our leave-to-construct application in February, and we have undertaken consultation post-February.  So we are seven months into our consultation.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Esquega.

We are going to take our lunch break now, and I would like to come back at quarter to, because we may have a procedural issue that we would like to discuss prior to continuing.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:53 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:50 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  I had alluded to a procedural matter just before the break, but I think that we will deal with that later on this afternoon and proceed with the cross-examination of this panel.

I understand -- Mr. Henderson, are you on the line?

MR. HENDERSON:  I am.

MS. LONG:  Yes.  It is your turn to ask questions of the panel.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Henderson:


MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, my name is Bill Henderson and I am counsel for the Batchewana First Nation.

I would like to start by thanking the Board for the opportunity to participate by way of conference call, and especially to express my appreciation to the Board Staff for moving quickly to fix the few glitches we have had over the past few days.

My first question relates to the consultation with Batchewana First Nation.  Is it correct to say that Hydro One has established contact and had meetings with the Batchewana First Nation at this point?

MS. GOULAIS:  Hello, Mr. Henderson.  It's Christine Goulais from Hydro One.  The answer to your question is yes, we have established consultation with Batchewana First Nation and we have had a meeting and some follow-up with Batchewana.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  I know this question has been asked several ways, and I have heard yes, no, and maybe, I think.  So let me try to rephrase it.

Would it be fair or accurate to say that the question of equity participation for the Batchewana First Nation is not off the table at this point?

 MS. GOULAIS:  So the equity participation offer that we have included in all of our evidence to date of 34 percent is currently for the Bamkushwada Limited Partnership communities.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, I understand that.  That wasn't my question.

Is the possibility of equity participation off the table as you continue your discussions with the Batchewana First Nation?

MS. GOULAIS:  We -- as a part of discussions with Batchewana First Nation, we would like to explore, through the consultation process what the impacts are and what proposed mitigation measures would be appropriate, including forms of economic participation.

I can't answer whether equity would be one of those forms of economic participation, because we haven't -- we are not at a stage with Batchewana First Nation where we have explored forms of accommodation.

MR. HENDERSON:  I understand that, and my question was not whether you are at a point to commit to that or whether it will happen.

My question is:  Is the possibility, the bare possibility of equity participation by Batchewana First Nation off the table at this point?

MS. GOULAIS:  Again, I think we would like to first understand the impacts and the proposed accommodation measures before providing an accurate answer to that question.

MR. HENDERSON:  Well, I am not getting any kind of an answer at all.

Are you suggesting that when you have the further information of the type you describe, that the possibility of equity participation will be explored, or could be explored?

MS. GOULAIS:  So again, Mr. Henderson, my answer is the same.  We need to be able to have the opportunity to have those discussions with Batchewana specifically, understand what the impacts are, how to mitigate them, what the appropriate forms of accommodation are.

Should Batchewana indicate that equity is an appropriate form of accommodation and want to have a discussion with Hydro One about that, we would be open to having a discussion.

But I cannot say here today that equity is something that Hydro One would entertain with Batchewana given I don't understand what the justification for accommodation of that nature is.

MR. HENDERSON:  All right.  I think that is as much of an answer as I can get and it is probably enough, thank you.

My next question goes to one of the issues addressed by the Chair earlier, and that is cost.  For a First Nation to participate in equity participation and to purchase that participation, would that not reduce the cost?  Would that capital infusion not reduce the overall cost of the project to Hydro One?

MS. LONG:  You can't see it, Mr. Henderson, but the panel is just conferring.

MR. SPENCER:  Good morning, Mr. Henderson, this is Andrew Spencer from Hydro One.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

MR. SPENCER:  If we understand your question correctly, I think the answer is, in the scenario where there is equity participation with Indigenous communities
-- and for discussion purposes, they were contribute 34 percent of the ownership of the line -- they would also be asked to contribute the representative equity commensurate with that.

So clarification that it doesn't change the total cost of the project to construct.  However, if there was a higher percentage of capital coming from the Indigenous partners in the form of equity, then you are correct in that Hydro One Networks' equity contribution would, in turn, be less.

So the total equity of the project is required to be approximately -- well, required to be 40 percent, and then obviously that is made up in proportion between the partners that will ultimately own and operate the transmission facilities.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, thank you, I think that answers my question.

The next subject is delay.  If Hydro One secures leave under section 92 to construct the Lake Superior Link, would engaging in equity participation discussions with First Nations, or other Indigenous groups, contribute to any delay to the construction of the project?

MS. GOULAIS:  Mr. Henderson, it is Christine Goulais speaking.  We have answered this question as well over the course of the last couple of days and our answer has been no, we don't anticipate any delay to our current schedule as a result of negotiating equity agreements.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, thank you, that is the answer I actually anticipated.

The third question or issue goes to the tax exempt status of the First Nations as equity partners.  You had indicated earlier, if I understood you correctly -- and I believe it was Ms. Goulais -- that there is not a priority attached to that consideration in terms of Hydro One's decision-making.

But you also indicated that there is an add-on or spin-off benefit to ratepayers as a result of the tax free status of First Nations.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  I'm sorry, did you say correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  I said that's correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  When the Board considers its public interest mandate, would you expect or recognize that a benefit to the ratepayers might be considered to be in the public interest?

MS. GOULAIS:  I would agree.

MR. HENDERSON:  Fine, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you very much, Mr. Henderson.

Next we move on to Anwaatin.  And will that be you, Ms. DeMarco, or Mr. McGillivray, or a combination?

MS. DeMARCO:  I will be the victim today.

MS. LONG:  Okay.
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:


MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if we could start with preliminarily marking the two compendiums that we filed.  One is a general compendium of Anwaatin for use on cross-examination that was filed on October 3rd, if we can have that mark as an exhibit, please.

MS. NOWINA:  Is that K2.3?  3.2?  Okay.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  ANWAATIN CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR HONI PANEL 1

MS. DeMARCO:  Then we filed an addendum late last eve, if we could have that filed as an exhibit as well.

MS. LONG:  That will be 3.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  ADDENDUM TO EXHIBIT K3.2

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Panel, I would like to cover three areas --


MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry to interrupt.  We are just waiting for the materials.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm so sorry.  Copies have been provided to Board Staff.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, they're right there.

MS. LONG:  Okay, let's wait until those are delivered.

MR. SPENCER:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Just so you don't struggle at the girth of it, the OCD tendency is coming into play.  I cannot stand not having the full response filed with the materials, so many of these are just for the completeness of the record.

So we are good then?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, panel.

MS. LONG:  Just so you know, Ms. DeMarco, we don't have them.  We didn't ask for copies because it was so large, so if it is going to be brought up on the screen it is not a problem for us, but if that raises any concerns --


MS. DeMARCO:  We did have sufficient copies for the Panel too that were provided, too.

MS. LONG:  All right.

MS. DeMARCO:  It will take me a little while to get there, so --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  That's fine.  Once the panel has theirs, please feel free to begin.

MS. DeMARCO:  So panel, I would love to cover three areas with you.  The first I have tried to surgically excise a significant chunk of my cross-examination so as to not cover what has been covered by other First Nation entities at this point, but I would like to ask you a few brief clarification questions on consultation.

Secondly, the bulk will be focusing on the interests of consumers with respect to reliability and the quality of the service.  And the third will be in relation to trends and timing, very briefly.

And so, Ms. Goulais, I am assuming based on your CV that I am talking to you predominantly in relation to consultation issues, fair to say?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And you are, in fact, in charge of this LSL project and have been running with the bulk of it.

MS. GOULAIS:  From an Indigenous relations and consultation perspective, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And you were awarded that illustrious task based on significant experience, about 12 years of experience with Aboriginal consultation with various branches of government and HONI; is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And you are very familiar with the detailed intricacies and requirements of and around the duty to consult and potentially accommodate; that is fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  I believe I am.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so just a quick clarification from your discussion with Ms. Ledoux yesterday.  It appeared to me in reading the transcript that the view was the duty to consult arose in and around or solely as a function of the environmental assessment process.  That's not your view, correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  The duty to consult is not only in relationship to the environmental assessment, I would agree with you.

MS. DeMARCO:  You would agree that it arises as a result of the Crown's constitutional duty and honour; is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  I would agree.

MS. DeMARCO:  And such duties in fact have been -- duties of the Crown in fact have been delegated to you in this matter; that's fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so a clarification in relation to whether or not you are conditioning your approval on the HONI finalizing agreements with directly impacted First Nations.  I understood in your last exchange with Mr. Esquega that you are no longer attempting to condition your approval?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  So the evidence as it exists in Exhibit B1, tab 7, schedule 1, page 7 of 12 should be corrected on the record; is that fair to say?

MS. GOULAIS:  Is there a -- if we can see...

MS. DeMARCO:  The reference again is Exhibit B1, tab 7, schedule 1.  I believe the reference again is B1, tab 7, schedule -- sorry, B, tab 7, schedule 1, page 7 of 12.

MS. GOULAIS:  So the evidence that you are referring to in our leave-to-construct application which says "conditional upon Hydro One finalizing agreements with directly impacted communities", we did provide additional evidence in May to provide additional information in reference to that.

So I would not suggest that we correct what is in the evidence, because the May 7th additional evidence explains that further.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Just so I am crystal-clear -- I am a little slow these days -- I understood that you are in fact no longer proceeding with the request to have this condition applied, pursuant to your May clarification.  Is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  So maybe, again, which was exactly what I had shared with Mr. Esquega during his questioning was, in terms of the reference to the 45 days -- or, sorry, the finalizing agreements with directly impacted communities and the condition that we have included in our February filing, we provided some additional and updated information in our May 7th filing that says the 45-day time frame is in relation to finalizing terms and conditions that may be agreed upon by Hydro One in the six First Nation partners and BLP to establish mutually agreeable terms.  We have also indicated throughout our testimony over the last several days that we are not seeking a condition.

MS. DeMARCO:  So help me, because I am struggling with this.  If that request is in the application, then this paragraph remains?  If there is no request whatsoever, then shall it be updated?

MR. SPENCER:  My understanding of the proceeding here is the entire evidentiary record, all documents filed does in fact make up the body of evidence.  And as Ms. Goulais elaborates, this material that you referenced from February 15th has since been elaborated and clarified in materials filed May 7th.  Coupled with that, our testimony of certainly this morning and perhaps sometime yesterday as well on this topic, we believe in totality that provides sufficient evidence by which the participants in this proceeding and certainly the Board can seek guidance on.

MS. DeMARCO:  I must be terribly slow in this regard, which is not unusual.  You're generally very conscientious, and really, HONI has the veracity of the record at its heart.

So to the extent that you could definitively clarify, are you seeking a condition or are you not?

MR. SPENCER:  We are not.

MS. DeMARCO:  And to the extent that I leave that out there, that the record be -- the veracity of the record be protected, I will leave that with your counsel to consider whether or not to amend accordingly.

One other clarification for you, Mr. Spencer, if I can. You indicated that no costs of the ongoing consultation or accommodation will be included in this application.  Do I have that right?

MR. SPENCER:  I don't believe so.  I believe what I was speaking to, and we can certainly refer back to transcripts once finalized, but I believe I was speaking to the costs associated with negotiating and finalizing the commercial partnership agreements between Hydro One and the Indigenous partners.  We do not seek cost recovery on those specific dimensions.

The work and costs associated with consultation is of course necessary as part of our delegated procedural aspects of consultation and part of the cost to develop and ultimately construct this project.  Therefore, we are seeking recovery of those costs if in fact successfully selected as the transmitter and constructor of this project.

MS. DeMARCO:  And I think this is -- therein lies the rub that many counsel have been struggling with, as to where the delineating line between consultation and commercial negotiations starts or stops, and specifically whether they're all in fact part of the same capital-C Consultation process, so looking at that, I wonder if we can walk through what specifically you, in your extensive experience, Ms. Goulais, intend to be included in "good consultation."

So can we just walk through step by step and I will put items to you and you can tell me whether or not you view them to be included.

First of all, clearly it is your view that the duty to construct applies to this project, the LSL project.

MS. GOULAIS:  The duty to consult?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  And it would also apply to higher-level strategic decisions; is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Can you give me an example?  I don't understand the question.

MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly.  It is not just project-specific, but where there is any potential adverse impact on Aboriginal interests you would --


MS. GOULAIS:  That's right.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then your duty in that regard first is to make First Nations aware of the proposed process for consultation; is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  I would agree with that.

MS. DeMARCO:  And to listen to what they think about that proposed process; is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  I think that is fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then next to make First Nations aware of the proposed form that the consultation will take, is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  I would agree.

MS. DeMARCO:  And to listen to what they have to say in relation to that form?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then to facilitate and potentially assist with financial or other capacity issues in order for the First Nations to meaningfully participate, is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And that could include negotiating a capacity agreement, is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then to enter into a two-way dialogue with the First Nations, is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  I would agree.

MS. DeMARCO:  And when we say two-way dialogue, we mean listening and hearing concerns, is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then considering those concerns very carefully, is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then considering measures to potentially address those concerns, is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And/or otherwise accommodate, is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's an aspect of consultation, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And if need be, potentially you would be required to change the project or proposal in response to those concerns.  Is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  I think that is a consideration that would have to be made if a community raised it.

MS. DeMARCO:  And certainly you would be required to explain how you believe those Indigenous concerns have been addressed by your actions, is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, can you say that again?

MS. DeMARCO:  You would be required to explain how you believe those Indigenous concerns have been addressed.  Is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  How you believe, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so let's look at two live examples of HONI and consultation.

Fair to say, very broadly, you have seen a noticeable improvement in your Indigenous consultation practices, is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Improvement from when or what?

MS. DeMARCO:  Well, let's take you through two examples.  Let's start, first, with tab 2 of our materials.  Let's start with the HONI transmission rate case in 0160.  I am at page 0012 to 0013 of our compendium.

MR. SPENCER:  Of the thicker one?

MS. GOULAIS:  Of the big one?

MS. DeMARCO:  The big one.

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, can you give the reference again?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  It is page 0012 and 0013 of the big compendium.  It is page 66 to 67 of the transcript, starting at line 27, and this was in relation to HONI's historical transmission case.

So starting at line 27, I asked,
"Forgive me.  I am going to take you through this step by step if I can."

MS. LONG:  Sorry, Ms. DeMarco, if you can wait until we're there.  We're waiting for it on the screen.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry.  At the bottom of that page, starting at line 27, I say,
"Forgive me.  I am going to take you through this step by step, if I can."

Then on to the top of the next page:
"On this application you have indicated that First Nations were not part of the customer engagement process.  Is that correct?"

And Mr. Hubert confirms that in fact that is correct, and I ask:
"They were not part of the customer -- the stakeholder consultation process; is that correct?"

Mr. Hubert confirms as well that they are not correct, that they were not.

And then I ask specifically:
"Was there any feedback in relation to specific drafts or elements of the application that First Nations were consulted on?"

And Mr. Hubert confirms again that there were none.

And then I ask, Consultation in relation to specific -- any aspects of this application, and Mr. Hubert indicates, "perhaps, but I cannot cite any right now."

You got that there?  That was the old approach to consultation and specifically, you would agree with me that no consultation is not good consultation.  Correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  So this is specifically in reference to a transmission rate filing, correct?

MS. DeMARCO:  That's right.

MS. GOULAIS:  So that response is specific to the transmission rate filing, not in relation to a specific project that Hydro One was undertaking?

MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  But you would agree with me that no consultation is not good consultation, correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  I would agree.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then let's move on to see how your practices have improved.  And very specifically, let's turn to tab 3 of our compendium, starting at page 0040, which I believe is page 19 of the transcript, starting at line 10.

And in speaking to Mr. Pugliese, I ask:
"So if we can try and go through that process, let me first start with the process issues.  Fair to say that you identified the need to enhance engagement with First Nations to better understand their needs and preferences?"

And Mr. Pugliese responds,
"Yes, that's correct.  We undertook a new approach to how we engage with First Nations communities, I would say a real change in policy and approach, roughly 18 months to 24 months ago."

Do you see that?  And you would agree?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's what it says, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  And going on to page 20 and speaking with Mr. Chum about specifically what was required, at about line 5, he indicates that, first in and around August 2016 it started with a comprehensive phone survey of about 300 First Nations customers, is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Are you asking me?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  I am showing you line 5 in terms of what was done to enhance that consultation process.  First, a comprehensive phone survey with about 300 First Nations customers was undertaken.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then further down at around line 12, there was a specific First Nations' engagement session in February of 2017.  Is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  Where approximately 88 First Nations were present.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then in May of 2017, further down at around line 24, there was a further First Nations engagement session, is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  No.  It was with the Métis Nations of Ontario.

MS. DeMARCO:  Of course, an Indigenous consultation session.  Fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, what line were you referring to?

MS. DeMARCO:  About line 24.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.  That was a specific engagement session with the Métis Nations of Ontario.

MS. DeMARCO:  Who would fall within the rubric of an Indigenous consultation?

MS. GOULAIS:  You said First Nation, so I was making sure we understood it was an engagement session with the Métis Nations of Ontario.

MS. DeMARCO:  So we are on the same page there.  And in relation to a further follow-up meeting with Indigenous interests with the chiefs in 323 area, November 2017, there was further consultation?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then in January -- going over to the next page, line 4, in January 2018, there was a further session with the regional chief, is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  I am not familiar.  I would have to check.  The January 2018 session with former regional Chief Day?  I would have to go back and confirm what that is.  I don't know.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Apparently Mr. Pugliese says this was correct and there was multiple industry stakeholders there as well, is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  It's just I don't recall it, so I would have to go back and understand what that is.

MR. WARREN:  I am not sure what my friend is asking my client to do.

Is Ms. DeMarco asking her for her understanding of the underlying facts, or is she asking her simply to say that is what the transcript says?  Because if she is asking her to say that is what the transcript says, it says what it says.

But I don't know whether or not my client was -- I'm sorry.

MS. LONG:  This is the transmission case, the Hydro One transmission case?

MS. DeMARCO:  It is.

MS. LONG:  Were you involved in that case?

MS. GOULAIS:  I was not.

MS. LONG:  You were not?  Okay.

MS. DeMARCO:  I put it to the witness for the sole purpose of good consultation.  She has agreed there has been a significant up-tick in the engagement process and the timing associated with that process, which I would submit to this Board is very relevant to this proceeding.

MS. LONG:  Well, I mean, she can establish what it says in the transcript, but, you know, this is not her testimony.

MS. DeMARCO:  Absolutely.  She is certainly not being asked to testify to the veracity of anything substantive, but to the process that was followed.

MS. LONG:  We can all read the transcript, so you are clearly trying to establish that there has been a pattern that something is happening, so I think we all understand that.

Are you going further on this?  Or...

MS. DeMARCO:  Only to look at the specific amount of time that was spent here.  So in and around that process we've got from August 16th, 2016 through to successful agreement in June 2018, which is some 22 months.  Is that fair, after approximately 22 months of consultation?

MS. GOULAIS:  I'm sorry, an agreement for what?

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry.  In relation to the uptick in the amount of consulting done, it is my understanding that you did reach an agreement with Anwaatin in relation to that matter.  Is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Again, I am not the lead on the Anwaatin file, so I am aware of it, I have some experience with it, but I couldn't provide you with an accurate answer as to the details of the time lines of the Anwaatin case in relation to this.

So I can provide you the details on the Lake Superior Link project, but I would be challenged to provide you with an accurate response specifically to the Anwaatin transmission rate filing which you've got here.

MS. DeMARCO:  Fair to say that if the accurate -- if the record is accurate, you can reasonably rely on it.  Is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  I would hope we can rely on the record, but I cannot provide any confidence in any responses in relation to this particular transmission rate filing, because I was not lead on it, nor was I participating in it.

MS. DeMARCO:  Just to be clear, you had no participation in that?

MS. GOULAIS:  I was not participating at the -- in a proceeding like this for that particular file.  I was involved as an employee of Hydro One, but I was not providing any sort of testimony or would be able to provide an accurate response to some of the specific questions that you are asking.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's fair.  Absolutely no issue there.  So in relation to a process whereby we had no consultation, and you agree that would not be good consultation, discharging your duty in relation to the transmission case to a process where we had approximately 22 months of consultation resulting in agreement, fair to say you would agree that the latter process is much better?

MS. GOULAIS:  I would agree that 24 months of consultation would be much better than zero, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And the outcome was better.

MS. GOULAIS:  I would agree.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  So let's move on to reliability if we can.  And now I am predominantly going to be relying to the skinny addendum of materials.  And I am going to start at page 004, which is actually page -- I am going from the addendum, actually, in relation to Table 2, which can be found on page A-004.  You've got that there.

And in relation to reliability, which is a very important part of this application, let's look at the existing reliability of HONI in relation to the frequency of interruptions in the Anwaatin First Nations communities.

If you look at the bottom of Table 1, fair to say that the frequency of interruptions, relative to Hydro One overall, is about 2.69 times, about 2.79 -- sorry, seven times higher?

MR. SPENCER:  No, no.

MS. GOULAIS:  So I am wondering if I can seek some clarification, and of course you would know better than me.  The Anwaatin communities are made up of several communities.  My understanding is two of those communities are impacted by the Lake Superior Link project in front of us.  So maybe what might be helpful for us in answering these questions is, are the questions specific -- so my understanding -- and I am not an expert on the, what we have in front of us here in terms of reliability, but this is for all communities represented by Anwaatin, correct?

MS. DeMARCO:  So certainly this was in relation to the Anwaatin communities present.

MS. GOULAIS:  There is two communities that make up Anwaatin that are impacted by this project.

MS. DeMARCO:  So as I understand it, and you can confirm for me, both BNA and AZA were specifically identified in your delegated duty to consult by the Minister of Energy.  Can you confirm that for me?

MS. GOULAIS:  I can, yes.  It is in the letter.

MS. DeMARCO:  And they are two communities in Anwaatin; is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  I believe so, but you are the expert, so I would take your advice on that, that two of them are represented by Anwaatin.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am certainly here on behalf of both of them today, so I would hope so.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, Ms. DeMarco, can you just for my clarification, these charts are -- I think Ms. Goulais's question was, are they representative of all Anwaatin First Nation communities or just the two that are affected by the Lake Superior Link?  I think that was the question.  Was that what you were trying to clarify?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.  And if we can, going forward, understand if there's specific -- if it is the two specific communities that we are being asked to respond to in relation to this project?  Or if it is Anwaatin communities as a whole?  And if that is the case, it would be helpful for us to know the -- if there is a distinction or not.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MS. DeMARCO:  So let me clarify.  The charts are instructive in that they include Hydro One's reliability writ large in northern Ontario and the reliability in relation to the Anwaatin First Nations communities, in which case, in this case, involved ten specific First Nations, two of which are here before you and identified in your delegation letter.  Is that helpful?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So let's look at the north in general and Hydro One's reliability in the north.

MR. SPENCER:  So, sorry to interrupt, on matters of this nature I think we will ask Mr. Reinmuller to respond.  He is the member of the panel who is best equipped on these matters of system reliability.

MS. DeMARCO:  I will let you delegate accordingly.

Mr. Reinmuller, fair to say here that in terms of the frequency of interruptions in northern Ontario relative to the Hydro One average, which of course includes northern Ontario, it's about 2.84 times more frequent interruptions in northern Ontario.  Fair to say?

MR. REINMULLER:  Can you specifically point out where you are reading that?

MS. DeMARCO:  In the last column of page 16 of 29 at the bottom of Table 1.

MR. REINMULLER:  I thought we were at page A-00 --


MS. DeMARCO:  You are, sorry.  There are two page references.  The bottom right corner should have A-004.

MR. REINMULLER:  Yes.  So you're referring to the duration?

MS. DeMARCO:  Second cell, top corner.

MR. REINMULLER:  You have one table above that which refers to frequency, and then you have another table, Table 2, that refers to duration.  I just wanted to know which one should I look at.

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  Let's look at Table 1.

MR. REINMULLER:  Okay.

MS. DeMARCO:  The bottom right cell at the top of the page.

MR. REINMULLER:  Yes.  Okay.

MS. DeMARCO:  So we are now specifically talking about frequency, and you and I will use the term "SAIFI".  Is that fair to use?

MR. REINMULLER:  Sure.

MS. DeMARCO:  So fair to say that the SAIFI, the frequency of interruptions relative to Hydro One overall, is 2.84 times higher in the north relative to Hydro One overall?

MR. REINMULLER:  All I can confirm is what it says on this page, and it does say 2.84.

MS. DeMARCO:  And in First Nations -- in the Anwaatin First Nations communities, it is 2.69 times more frequent than Hydro One --


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry to be meddlesome about this, but there is a distinction between the Anwaatin communities writ large and the two that are affected by this particular application.

So asking my client's representative, Mr. Reinmuller, about issues in relation to the Anwaatin communities generally as opposed to the two that are affected is misleading and creates a record which is not, among other things, not relevant to this case.

So if Ms. DeMarco could say what the reliability issues are with respect to the two affected Anwaatin communities, then we have a clear framework for the exchange with the witness.

MS. LONG:  Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  My preference is to look very largely at Hydro One reliability generally.  So I will be referring to both the north, northern Ontario, and to my friend's concerns.  I am more than happy to distinguish Anwaatin communities in that proceeding, which include two of these, if that is fair.

MS. LONG:  I'm not sure I am understanding.  So do you have the data for the two Anwaatin communities affected?  And are you going to do a comparison Hydro One overall to those two communities as opposed to the ten communities, which as I understood it, this is what the chart shows is ten communities not the two affected communities.  Do you have the information for the two?

MS. DeMARCO:  Hydro One has the information for the two, and we would love to get that information for the two.

Number one, number two, I would also refer to the north, which is valid and completely applicable as we go through this.

MS. LONG:  So, Mr. Warren, has your client been asked for the information for the two?

MR. WARREN:  No, we have not been asked for the Anwaatin specific duration or -- any reliability data.

As the panel will be aware, the Anwaatin communities were late filers in this and they did it on the condition they would take the record as it is, which included not filing any interrogatories.

Had we been asked for the information in a timely manner, then we would have undertaken to provide it.  But we do not have that information, so we are at a loss as to what the reliability that is with respect to the two affected communities.

MS. LONG:  I am not sure where you are going with this, Ms. DeMarco, and I will let you continue.  But it is clear on the record that when you reference the Anwaatin First Nations communities, you are referring to all ten and not two.

So to the extent that you are able to answer those questions, it would be in respect of the ten communities and we understand that.  I think that is the best we can do at this point.

MS. DeMARCO:  I put the question -- thank you, Madam Chair.  I put the question to you in relation to trends generally.  And very specifically, is it fair to say that in the next chart, table 2, Mr. Reinmuller, directionally, northern Ontario duration of interruptions is about three and a half, almost four times longer than Hydro One average?

MR. REINMULLER:  As I mentioned before, for this testimony, all I can do is read the numbers on the page and confirm what you just said.  But I cannot qualify the numbers at this point.  I am not familiar with these tables.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am happy to take that as such.  The reference is specifically there in relation to the transcript reference.

Again, in the original Anwaatin First Nations communities, the ten were about 7.29 times higher, in terms of the duration of outages compared to the Hydro One average?

MR. REINMULLER:  That's what it says on the table.

MS. DeMARCO:  Last in relation to these statistics, the delivery point unreliability index, fair to say that the north is about five times less reliable, has a five times higher delivery point unreliability index compared to the Hydro One average.

MR. REINMULLER:  I have not read this table, so I would have to spend some time to understand exactly what the numbers are.  I cannot confirm or deny what you just said.

MS. DeMARCO:  I know, Madam Chair, you are reluctant to get undertakings and I did in fact give my friend, Mr. Warren, the indication that I would accept the record as it is.  But I would assume that Hydro One witnesses would adopt their own evidence from prior proceedings.

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, the Hydro One witnesses would accept what?

MS. DeMARCO:  In fact their own evidence in relation to reliability.

MR. WARREN:  But Mr. Reinmuller has said he didn't prepare these charts.  He is seeing them for the first time.  It is effectively impossible for him to say anything about them.  They are evidence that was tendered in another proceeding in a different context.  That is truly a reasonable limitation, Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  Let me ask this issue another way.  Fair to say that reliability is worse in the north?

MR. REINMULLER:  What are we comparing that reliability to?  Sorry.

MS. DeMARCO:  To the Hydro One average.

MR. REINMULLER:  You are referring...

MS. DeMARCO:  Hydro One average reliability.

MR. REINMULLER:  To be specific, Hydro One has a lot of records related to reliability.  And again, you have to be very specific into what is worse than better.

Multi circuit reliability is better, single circuit, long circuits could be worse.

I don't know what is your question, and I am not prepared to answer questions that I don't know the specifics for.

MS. DeMARCO:  I would love at this point, with the indulgence of the Chair, to seek an undertaking to confirm that Hydro One's reliability in the north is significantly worse than that of the Hydro One average.

MR. SPENCER:  I think I may be able to --


MR. WARREN:  Before we get into that, can we get back -- this is in respect of a line, whether Mr. Cass's client builds a line or we build a line, it will have an impact on the north.

But we are talking about two Anwaatin communities, and I am not sure how helpful it is to anybody to provide reliability data to the north generally, but....

MS. LONG:  Sorry, Ms. DeMarco, where are you going with this?  This line has been established as there is a need.

MS. DeMARCO:  Absolutely.  It is in relation to a number of specific Hydro One assets that will be required and are identified to support that, and perhaps I could go there at this point.

MS. LONG:  Can you explain to me -- maybe ask your next questions.  I am trying to understand where you are going.

MS. DeMARCO:  I would like you to turn to Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1 at page 3 of 5.

MR. REINMULLER:  Is this in your compendium?

MS. DeMARCO:  It's not, actually.  It is just in the central evidence.  Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3 of 5.  Do you have that up?

And your own evidence indicates that there are a number of transmission system assets, specifically T1M, A1B, A5A, A21L, A22L, F25A, K23D, K24D, K21W, K22W, and a series of transformer stations including Dryden, Fort Frances, Marathon, Lakehead, McKenzie, and Kenora that are all affected and impacted by this application, is that right?

MR. REINMULLER:  No.

MS. DeMARCO:  Well, can you clarify?

MR. REINMULLER:  So this application is affecting three stations mainly, Wawa, Marathon and Lakehead, and underlying lines T1M and A5A in the stage 2 of the project.  That is specific to the Lake Superior Link.

These other stations that you are referring to, there are other circuits and other assets in the northwestern Ontario, but they're not specifically affected by this project.

MS. DeMARCO:  So they will not be linked in any way to this project?

MR. REINMULLER:  Well, they will be by the nature of the network.  Toronto is linked to these lines, if we were to go on the same line of logic, right.  So the lines go between southern Ontario all the way to the Manitoba border, so they're all linked together.

MS. DeMARCO:  I don't see Toronto identified in this list in your evidence.

MR. REINMULLER:  No.

MS. DeMARCO:  No.

MR. REINMULLER:  I am just pointing out that they're linked by the virtue of the line.

MS. DeMARCO:  So these are clearly relevant enough that they're specifically and expressly listed?

MR. REINMULLER:  They're relevant from the standpoint they are in the north west Ontario, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you for the -- what's the age of each of these lines, and the expected service life?

MR. REINMULLER:  I don't have that information in front of me.

MS. DeMARCO:  And by way of undertaking, I would love to get that information, given that they're relevant to the system and expressly listed.

MR. WARREN:  Perhaps Ms. DeMarco could help us out with the relevance of the information about the age of the number of facilities that are linked by wires to the application which is under consideration.  But I am not -- it escapes me for the moment how that information is relevant to the issues that the Board has to determine.

MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly the Board has before it the definitive task of determining the impacts on customers of this project in relation to reliability and quality of service.

And to the extent that data clearly indicates that reliability has been an issue, I think the reliability of the supporting lines should be extremely relevant to the Board in determining how this project will be costed and what will be required in relation to facilitate and discharge the Board's duty to ensure the quality and reliability of service to customers.

MR. REINMULLER:  My only comment is that these lines are not related to the Anwaatin communities and they're not related to the project directly.  So I fail to see what the benefit of analyzing the age of a line that goes to Manitoba between Kenora and Manitoba are relevant to this project.

MS. DeMARCO:  My view is clearly that they're relevant enough to be listed in the associated evidence, your own evidence.  And to the extent that there is no reliability information in the evidence, I think it would be very relevant to the Board in discharging its own duty to determine what the reliability of those existing --


MR. REINMULLER:  I would just comment that this section merely explains the system, the northwestern system of the province.  That is all it does.  It does not imply that these circuits have to be looked at or analyzed or studied.  They're just explaining what the relationship of, you know, of the existing project is to the border with Manitoba.  That is all it does.  It just lists the circuits and stations that go between Wawa and the Manitoba border.  That is all it is.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, we have heard from both of you on that.  We're going to take it away and consider whether or not we think it is something that we need to get further information on.  So Ms. DeMarco, you are ten minutes over your time.  Is this your last question?

MS. DeMARCO:  I have a series in relation to the impacts, which is basically one question broken into several parts.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  You have until quarter to, and then we have to move on.

MS. DeMARCO:  I can do it in that time, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

Back to Ms. Goulais, in relation to the impacts of power going out, particularly in First Nations communities, you are aware that First Nations communities, including the Anwaatin two communities, have lost frozen meat they procured through the traditional hunt as a function of power outages; is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  I am aware of that based on reading the documents in relation to Anwaatin's concerns, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And you are also aware that they have lost frozen fish captured or caught through traditional fishing rights as a function of power outages?

MS. GOULAIS:  Again, as stated in those -- in the evidence submitted by Anwaatin in support of the filing, rate filing, I am aware of those issues being raised.

MS. DeMARCO:  And similarly, in terms of the impact of power reliability on the Anwaatin communities, lost blueberries, lost refrigerated insulin, you are aware of that as well?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And in terms of the timing of this, there has been a reliability challenge for many years in relation to the Anwaatin communities, is that fair, the two Anwaatin communities?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?  Reliability over how many years?  Sorry -- actually, I can't answer the question on how many years of reliability matters, to be honest with you.  I'm not an expert in -- someone like Robert Reinmuller can answer questions about reliability, but I wouldn't be able to answer anything about the status of reliability in even the two particular communities related to this project.

MS. DeMARCO:  You are aware that concerns regarding power quality and reliability have been an issue for --


MS. GOULAIS:  For all of the Anwaatin communities as referenced in their evidence, yes, I am aware.

MS. DeMARCO:  Including the two, thank you.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And you are also aware that this proceeding started in 2011?  The East-West Tie designation proceeding?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, I am aware.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so some seven years later we still do not have a line built; is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  The East-West Tie line is not built; that's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And we are looking at potential delays further as a function of this proceeding; is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  I don't think that is a fair statement.

MS. DeMARCO:  No?  They're both going to finish at the same time, both applicants are going to have construction COD on the same date?

MR. SPENCER:  I believe we have spoken to the status of our project and the timing of our project, and the other applicant will have their opportunity in time, and you can examine them on that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Those are my questions, thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.

Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

When would the panel like to take a break, just for my planning purposes?

MS. LONG:  Probably around three o'clock, unless
you -- you are about half an hour?  Is that what I have you down for?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  45 minutes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then, yes, three o'clock we will break then.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I will be referring to the compendium that I utilized yesterday.  That is K2.2.  I wonder if I can very quickly follow up on some discussion that happened earlier as well with the last panel with respect to the potential condition.

And I understood your evidence and your testimony.  You are not seeking any relief in this proceeding that the Board put in place a condition of leave-to-construct approval that you will undertake negotiations in a 45-day window for participation to enter into a participation agreement with either the BLP or any directly affected Indigenous communities.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. SPENCER:  We are not specifically seeking that relief, but of course we will comply with any conditions put upon the successful application by the Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And it is that I want to just quickly ask you about.  Are you open to such a condition?

MR. SPENCER:  I mean, I think it would have to be articulated in a manner that we could satisfy it.  In principle we are not opposed to it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to understand how the actual implications of this would work.  Say the Board, utilizing the language that was in the Board memo and in your application, if the Board put in place a condition that said, you know, Hydro One gets leave to construct and one of the conditions that it puts is that this leave-to-construct approval is conditional upon Hydro One entering into a participation agreement with Indigenous communities within 45 days.

I want to -- so imagine the Board puts that in place.  Is that something that Hydro One would be open to?

MR. SPENCER:  I presume -- and I am speaking in general terms here -- any condition, the onus would be on us as the successful applicant to demonstrate adherence to the decision and ensure that any conditions are complied to and the burden is on us to demonstrate to the Board as such.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand you have to follow the conditions, but I would say there is a difference between asking for something, which I understand you are not, there is a difference between opposing it.

If someone put forward that position, you would say that is not -- "We do not agree with that."  I am just trying to understand if you are open to it or you are in opposition to such a condition.

MR. SPENCER:  Open to the concept of it.  Where I would maybe differ from your exact language if I recalled it correctly, it was never intended to be exactly 45 days, it was intended to be a reasonable period of time, a minimum 45 days, something in that order.  So subject to language that the Board felt appropriate that was in fact achievable by any reasonable two-party, two-way discussion, we would be open to entertaining those conditions.

We are not asking for them, but certainly we would give consideration if the Board was able to define a condition that we would be able to deliver upon in their judgment, acting as a reasonable good-faith negotiation with the Indigenous partners.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then I would assume for whatever period of time, whatever language, do I take it that if you are unable to meet it, NextBridge would get leave to construct?  I am just trying to understand how this would actually play out.

MR. SPENCER:  Well, the exact sequence by which the Board's condition would be satisfied or not, I think they would be in the best position to determine exactly what that would look like and what forks in the road would be taken.

Our intent -- and I will just reiterate this point perhaps as stated earlier -- was to just give an option that certainly for consideration there is a way through this challenge.  We have been blocked out and guarded against any form of economic participation in terms of equity partnership, whilst there is another active section 92 application before the Board because of the exclusivity agreements put in place by NextBridge.

Our thought is that if in this hypothetical scenario that we were selected that those agreements presumably would not carry on.  It would not be in effect.  At least then we would have an opportunity to discuss.  So it is really a mechanism to say that we see there is an opening for this, perhaps the details of which require some further thought on behalf of the Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MS. LONG:  I just want to be clear.  You said "participation agreement."  You meant equity participation, did you?  Or...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am unclear.  Well, I am unclear.  
The regional evidence uses the term "participation."  The motion evidence talks specifically with respect to BLP and I believe it is equity participation.  I am just talking about -- I guess it would be an issue for the Board, if they were going to...

MS. LONG:  I don't want it to be the Board's issue.  When you refer back to this and say the panel agreed to --something that we are not clear on what they agreed to.

So I see economic participation as being different than equity participation.  So were you answering that question that you would be not opposed to a condition with respect to equity participation, or economic participation?

MR. SPENCER:  My intention was equity participation.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So would I take it the broader participation, economic participation, you would not be in favour of such a condition?

MR. SPENCER:  Well, we're certainly pursuing broader economic participation in the forms of skills and development training and contracting and employment opportunities.

Those are certainly part of our plan for the project without doubt.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just wanted to understand what relief you would or would not be in favour of.

Can I ask you to turn to page 15 of our compendium.  And as I understand, there were some budget changes with respect to this application and the proposal that you presented the first time in the interrogatory responses, correct?

On page 15, we see there was a change that you talked about earlier with respect to development costs from 12.215 to 16.97; do I have that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is the correct reference, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand, of that difference, 1.9 million of that is due to what I will call a phase shift from what was in the construction timeframe into the development budget.

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.  Activities that we would have been undertaking in the period of November/ December/January are now, by right of this phase shift, within the development phase.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the rest of the increase of the 2.8 million is with respect to actual cost increases?

MR. SPENCER:  Forecast cost increases in the areas defined, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in the four months since the motion hearing where the budget was 12.2 million, not including the phase shift costs, the development budget has increased by about 23 percent.  Do I have that correct?  Would you take it subject to check?  Does that sound reasonable to you?

MR. SPENCER:  Bear with me.  Subject to check, it is in the right order, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 19, this is where you have done a breakdown of the construction costs, and they have increased slightly, correct, from about 623.9 million to 624.8 million, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  1.0 percent, I believe, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But really, if we were doing it on an apples to apples basis, we would include the $1.9 million phase shift, that's still cost -- you would add that to the $624.8 million, just to get an apples-to-apples comparison of the change, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  There is one acute change.  We did try to describe, starting at line 18 on the page 6 of 8 that you referenced from response to Staff 11, and that is in fact the relocation costs for the team 1M facility in the order of $1.5 million.

So as you are normalizing your costs and your continuity, please do give consideration to that cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  That's fair.  Now, as I understand it from the hearing of the -- from the filing of the application through to the motion hearing to today, the forecast schedule, though, has not changed, that will be in service by December 2021, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  The forecast completion date, you are correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we go to page 13 of the compendium, this is an updated schedule you provided in JT2.9 in the motion hearing, do I have that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is what your reference is, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look down at the bottom, you mention how there is a Gantt chart that I haven't reproduced, but it is an attachment and you say:
"Included as attachment 1 to this undertaking response is a Gantt chart view of the project showing major activities, critical page and project float for approximately four months, two months of regulatory float and two calendar months of construction float."


Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  We do see it, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we now turn to page 23, this is your response to Staff IR 5.  There is no such float.  I didn't produce the Gantt charts because they're very large, but they're not in those Gantt charts anymore.  There is no float, four months of float.  Is that your understanding as well?

MR. SPENCER:  The statement is not on the page in the response of the interrogatory.  That does not mean there is zero float in the overall project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  Well, if we want, we can go to the Gantt charts.  But there is no -- you have pulled out the four months of float that are listed in the Gantt chart.  We can go to them, if you want to take a look.

MR. SPENCER:  That is not a correct assertion.  We did not include that updated footnote in our response to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 5.

However, we still do have, as any reasonable project should and would, some float within our construction phase to be able to deliver upon this December 2021 commitment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I am going to take you -- if you want, we will go to the Gantt charts.

MR. SPENCER:  Alternatively, we could speak to them --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I can pull them up.

MR. SPENCER:  Maybe, Mr. Karunakaran, if you could advise what the construction float would be?  If we want to go to the Gantt charts, we can, or if there is an easier way.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I think, at a very simple high level, we had said previously our construction start window, as in physical construction start window, was in the fall of 2019 with a completion in December 2021.

Even with the updates in the schedule with all of the activities that we have referred to since the time of the technical conference or the motion to dismiss, our time period for the construction remains as exactly the same.

So I think just by that itself, the amount of float that was present previously would be similar, maybe slightly shifted or adjusted to what there is right now.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you show me on this Gantt chart where it says regulatory float or construction float?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I don't know if there is a specific line item that is defined as that in this Gantt chart right now.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you, the person operating the controls, to go to JT2.9, attachment 1?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, is this in the compendium?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I apologize.  I couldn't shrink it down.  All right.

Do you see, if we go down that screen to construction, do you see the line that says regulatory float?  Do you see that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip to the next page --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- where it says testing and commissioning, we have construction float.  Do you see that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes, I see it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go back to attachment 1 on Staff 5, there is no line and no time frame for either of those items.

So I take it from that that you have removed the four months of float in the schedule.  Is that a fair assumption to make?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So if you would scroll up a bit on that chart, please.  My apologies.  When I said scroll, if you could go in the other direction.  If you go upwards now, thank you.

I think if you look there at the line referred to as construction, it refers through to a date there of the 6h of September -- sorry, yes, the 6th of September 2021. And the actual completion date is December of 2021.

So you would have float as a net result built into the --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I have to take it that in this update, you just removed those two line items from the Gantt chart?

MR. SPENCER:  It was a matter of presentation for ease of reference, but the construction float is the period between construction and substantial performance, in a contractual sense --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  And forecasting.

MR. SPENCER:  -- and the end of the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are these not the Gantt charts that you use, that the project team here is using?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes, it would be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So why would you pull out those lines?  I am just -- I don't.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I don't know.  I am not familiar with that right now, I'm afraid.

MR. SPENCER:  If I may clarify, Mr. Rubenstein?  In the materials referenced at JT2.9 and the subsequent attachment 1, if we look -- so on that page there it is on the screen, the construction bar that is in green, you can see that the end date on that is September 9th, 2021.  So let's recall that date.  And then if we were draw back to our updated material in response to Staff 5, the corollary is September 6th.  So for all intents and purposes the date hasn't changed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand your total construction time frame.  How it looks to me -- and I am asking you to help me here -- is, your total construction time, maybe, but you have removed the period within that construction budget that is float.

MR. SPENCER:  So the construction float, if I may, was always a function of the -- between the substantial completion on the project, the end of the construction phase, and the EPC context, which is, let's call it the first week of September 2021, and the end of the year when we declare the project in-service.  So mid-December 2021.  That is the period that one would refer to as construction scope.  We have some -- sorry, construction float.  We have some opportunity in that period, if required, to make up any schedule deviation that had occurred over the 26-month construction period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is three o'clock.

MS. LONG:  We are going to break for 15 minutes.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:02 p.m.
--Upon resuming at 3:21 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.

Now, there was discussion over the last couple of days about the cost estimate and it being at an AACE level 3 estimate.  Do I have that correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  The mics are not working.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It sounds like they're working.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  There.

MS. LONG:  Are they on?

MR. SPENCER:  We have lights, okay.  So in response to your question, there has been discussion over the AACE classification, and we have classified -- the underlying deliverables are a class 3.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When will they be at a class 2?

MR. SPENCER:  Mr. Karunakaran can speak to, I think, the differences between a class 3 and a class 2, in terms of the underlying differences, and then answer the question.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.  So I think when you look at the AACE table -- and you probably have one in your compendium here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Page 26.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, did you say page 46?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Page 26.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:   When you look at the estimate classes that are associated in here, I think it is important to draw the distinction here that there is a range of factors as to how to read table, right.

If one defines the class of the estimate purely by the maturity level of project definition and deliverables, then you are going to get a certain expectation on what the accuracy range for that estimate would be.

And I will just take a little moment to explain it, because this is really dependent on your utilization of that actual estimate, right.

So if I was doing this as an owner from a first principles perspective, trying to define out all of the activities and so forth and I haven't got a high degree of maturity on my definition, I would expect a rather wide range in the accuracy levels of my estimate.

Now, by definition, what we had said was that, you know, if you use that maturity level of progress along that line, we would be in that class 3 definition range.

However, with the project delivery model that is being offered in the Lake Superior Link project, where 85 percent of the construction costs are based on the fixed price EPC estimate, you can see that as a cost basis definition as opposed to a higher degree of variability, right.

So you would expect a much higher tolerance band around the actual estimate, overall project estimate accuracy.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  My question is simple.  When do you plan to be at a level 2, class 2?

MR. SPENCER:  If you go purely by the maturity level of the input definitions, we would be expecting to there by the end of this year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you.  If we flip to page 27, I think this is what you were referring to.  So as I take it, you have provided an analysis based on the various bounds of where you think the lower bound and the upper bound would be of the cost.  Do I have that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the EPC contract, while it is at a level 3 -- or sorry, right now you are at a level 3 for the project, it only has an -- it has a much smaller accuracy range of minus 3 plus five instead of, if we flip back to page 26, it could be anywhere from minus 20 to plus 30, because the contract is a fixed-price.

So the only -- for the purposes from the ratepayer or Hydro One's perspective, all that matters is what risks that are outside of the EPC contract.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That's a fair understanding, yes.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But why, when I go through all of the other costs at plus or minus 15, instead of the larger, what I would have expected, minus 20 to plus 30 range?

MR. SPENCER:  It is intended to be a range, just as you alluded to.  So even if we go back to your page 26 of the compendium, in the right hand column, both on the lower and higher limits, there's a range.

So in a class 3, looking at the high range, for example, it could be anywhere from a plus 10 to plus 30 tolerance, and we exercise some judgment based on the underlying work and the residual risk that we realize, and we felt that a 15 percent tolerance on these other factors outside the EPC, that plus or minus 15 percent was the appropriate boundary.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  There was some discussion previously, and I think it was mentioned today that the EPC contract is in an executable format.  I think that was the language that was used; do I have that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Something very close to that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can I just ask what that means exactly.  Does that mean that the only thing that needs to be done is simply to sign the document, and I guess someone has to wire someone some money?  Is that it?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I think the main reason why we haven't executed the EPC contract is we want to see what happens as far as the leave to construct application is concerned because, you know, whilst it is a contract that is ready to go, obviously there could be conditions or adjustments and so forth placed in as part of a leave to construct and we want the opportunity to be able to reflect that accurately within the agreement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if there are no unexpected conditions that are attached to the leave to construct and you get the leave to construct when you expect, will there be any changes to that EPC contract?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No foreseeable changes, no.

MR. SPENCER:  We have no foreseeable changes at this point from Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin's perspective.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we turn to page 31?  There was some discussion about this over the last few days, it's that table you provided in response to Staff 7 that shows a number of scenario analysis about the delay in the EA approval and how that will impact the costs and in-service date.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  We have it up, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what I see is that if there is a one month EA delay, no cost or schedule impact, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's what the table says, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Three months; there is no schedule, but there is a $1.36 million cost impact?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, at five months, though, there is a schedule impact -- there is no schedule impact, but there is a $4.5 million impact.  Correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now when I take a look at the five-month delay and I compare that to the three-month delay, can you help me understand why, for example, you get -- if I look at the material deliveries, they come in later from October 2020, now they're coming in in December 2020.  But yet the construction is being done a month earlier than the three-month delay?

MR. SPENCER:  Thank you for your patience.  So the dates in the table are in fact correct.  We can confirm that, and just to help explain the circumstance.

So referencing the three-month column, just to talk this through, we would be envisioning material deliveries finalized in October 2020, and a -- I am going to do this quickly -- approximately 14-month construction window between October 2020 and a construction completion in December 2021.

Now, if we go to the five-month scenario, of course we would have had a delay at the front end of the project, which would push back our final material deliverables to December 2020.  And what we're suggesting here is that we would, through a number of different techniques, essentially more parallel activities, more resources would compress and crash the schedule to achieve that same amount of construction work not in 14 months, but instead we would do this in -- it looks to be about 11 months.  So that comes with an additional cost.  There are more resources on the project, there are more parallel crews and, in part, what you are seeing there is the increased effort of doing so with the approximate four-and-a-half-million-dollar premium.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But in the three-month delay where there is also increased costs, because I assume you are doing a similar thing but to a lesser degree, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  To a lesser extent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You still keep the December 2021.  So actually, you are getting the construction done earlier in a five-month delay than a three-month delay.

MR. SPENCER:  No.  The construction is completing around the same -- sorry, it is one month earlier, yes, you are correct, but it is because we would have, simplifying here, we would have thrown everything at it, which comes at a cost premium, versus an optimized solution, where we maybe didn't overload the schedule and parallel activities and would have taken that extra month prior to finishing the construction phase between these two scenarios.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in the last scenario you provide the 12-month EA approval delay, and that is the highest cost of $14.8 million, and a one-year delay in the in-service date.  Correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, does Hydro One agree with the IESO that the project is going need to be in place by the end of 2020?

MR. SPENCER:  Well, we will let Mr. Reinmuller speak to the specifics of this.  It is his area of specialty.

MR. REINMULLER:  So I think we made it very clear that we feel we could complete the outage by 2021, and IESO has confirmed in their addendum that situation could be manageable with resources 'til 2022.

MR. SPENCER:  Just to clarify, we have never felt that 2020 was the -- year-end 2020 was the project need date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, 2022, do you agree with the IESO that December 2022 needs to be in-service by -- whoever line it is, whatever line it is, needs to be in place by the end of 2022 at the latest?

MR. REINMULLER:  I thought you first asked us about 2020?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I did, that was a mistake on my part.  Does Hydro One agree that December 2022 is the last date that needs to be in-service by then?

MR. REINMULLER:  I think we have agreed in the material that we provided that we would target completion by 2021.  We don't intend to go into 2022.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's a different -- that is an answer to a different question.  My question is, do you agree with the IESO that a line needs to be in place at the very latest by the end of 2022?

MR. REINMULLER:  I think it is fair to ask that question of the IESO.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, no, I am asking do you agree with their assessment?  Let me flip to page 32.

We had asked you:

"Do you agree?  Please provide Hydro One's views on the IESO's addendum to the updated needs assessment."

And you say at line 12, given the fact -- you recite some facts:

"Given that fact, Hydro One's view is the IESO assumptions and findings in the addendum of the 2017 updated needs assessment are reasonable."

I understand that report -- this is my interpretation -- at least in their view, and we will confirm with them, that December 2022 project needs to be in-service.

MR. REINMULLER:  I think in general we agree with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then in total, regardless of it being an EA delay, a construction delay, some other delay, there is 12 months that Hydro One has between that December 2022 date and your forecast in-service date.

MR. SPENCER:  I would like to step back one, if we may.  So in the IESO's report that surely you are quite familiar with, but they do cite, and I will read:

"In this case the IESO does not support delaying the in service date of the East-West Tie expansion beyond the end of '22, as the increased risk to system reliability associated cost uncertainties are unacceptable."

In their report they have produced a number of cost scenarios that can be measured and quantified, and we have also presented, in response to PW6, for example, the position that there are also benefits of deferral of this in-service to date.

Our intention is to have this in-service by year-end 2021 and make this all a moot point, but there are also offsetting benefits associated with deferring the revenue requirements associated with this project regardless of who builds it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Not discussing the difference between 2020 in-service date from NextBridge and the 2021.  I just want to understand.  It is the IESO's view this needs to be in place by the end of 2022.  You would agree with me that, based on your in-service forecast for whatever reason, EA delay, construction delay, whatever the cause is -- and I know you will try to mitigate that -- there is 12 months of space between those two points, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  We can deliver the project in advance of year-end 2022, even with a 12-month delay on the front end, let's call that EA approval.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it is not just the EA approval.  We need -- it could be construction delay, for whatever other material delay, all the other aspects, it is only -- there's a 12-month window, correct, between your in-service forecast and the end of the period the IESO says it needs the line to be in-service, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  There is a 12-month window in there, and that is in addition to the float that is still in the construction schedule.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to page 35.  And I don't want to go into much of this, because this was discussed.  This is the risk register.

Am I correct what is contained in this risk register is risks that I will call that are Hydro One's risks, not risks that are owned, so to speak, by the EPC contractor.  Correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so while there may be costs associated with risks that the EPC contractor has, those don't -- because it is a fixed-price contract, Hydro One doesn't bear those costs and ratepayers wouldn't bear those costs, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is correct.

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And -- but would I be correct that, while Hydro One may not bear the cost risk from risks that are owned by SNC, there is an impact if there are risks that affect the schedule.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.  But we also have compensating controls around contractor performance and schedule adherence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand you may have controls and there may be liquidated damages and other financial provisions, but if the -- if SNC just takes longer to construct it and they may be penalized, that has an impact on the in-service date of the project, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  So SNC as our constructor would certainly, when you look at the damages tied to late delivery of the project, which is in Q4 2021, they would certainly be exercising all the instruments and all of the tools in their tool box to minimize the risk of those damages being brought forward in accordance with the contract.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that you put in place incentives for them not to be out of, off schedule.  But you would agree with me that, unlike costs, there is a schedule impact to Hydro One?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, unlike costs?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I understand it is a fixed-price contract.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if there is a problem from SNC's perspective in executing the EPC, in doing the work --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- and there is added costs, Hydro One doesn't bear those costs, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But I want to ask about the schedule, because the schedule is different --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  By certain dates, certain contract.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, but just to be clear, if it is delayed --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- that would have an impact on Hydro One's ability to bring the project in in-service.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So if we, for whatever reason, were delayed and we were suffering the penalties associated with the schedule liquidated damages and the likes and made absolutely no efforts or means to recover on any of these sorts of things, in that extremely highly unlikely scenario, then, yes, Hydro One would bear some element of schedule risk.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to page 25 of the compendium.  This is a Monte Carlo analysis.  We had asked you with respect to schedule that you provided in the -- Hydro One provided in the motion hearing, and it was their view based on the risks that they identified that there was a 85 percent confidence interval P85 that the project would come into service before or at December 31st, 2021.  Correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do those include the risks that were used for this Monte Carlo for schedule?  Did that only include Hydro One's risks, or did it also include risks of the EPC contract?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No.  There would be risks of the EPC contractor associated with the construction phases in the Monte Carlo analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's in this?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  It should be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is a Hydro One undertaking.  I assumed this was you -- am I correct that this -- can Hydro One confirm that as well?

MR. SPENCER:  It was filed by Hydro One, but it's a work product that Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin produced together.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Now, you were asked at page 38 -- sorry, page 39 with respect to SNC-Lavalin's record.  Do you see that in part (c)?  You were asked for certain information so we can understand SNC-Lavalin's record of bringing in projects on schedule.  Do you see that?

In part (c), you were asked for various information from NextBridge.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And on page 41 you refused to provide that information.  Am I reading that correctly?  You said it was confidential.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Correct.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.  As explained in the response here, right, the information itself would be bound under contractual confidentiality undertakings that we have with those clients.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we don't have anything on the record with respect to SNC-Lavalin's ability to bring in projects on schedule.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Other than the fact that we're a $11 billion a year company that is over 110 years old, and I would put forward to you that we wouldn't probably be in business or be listed in the top 100 on the TSX if we were consistently late and paying penalties on our projects.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to the -- flipping back quickly to the Monte Carlo analysis that you provided.  Since there has been some delays in the EA process, is that Monte Carlo -- I assume there is a change to the probability.  Has that gone up or down since you provided that response?  It's at page 25 of our compendium.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Well, I would say specific to the activities of the EA, there has been some delays and impacts associated with it.

With respect to an overall Monte Carlo analysis of the project, we have moved some of our activities forward, so to try and offset some of that delay risk.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So would you say the probability is now greater on less than 85 percent that you will bring the project --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I believe the undertaking that we provided to NextBridge Interrogatory 64 reflects the latest revision of the Monte Carlo analysis, which still shows a P85 confidence interval on the completion date of 14th of December 2021.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  If I could ask you to turn to page 42 of the compendium.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, which page?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Page 42 of the compendium.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In this undertaking, we asked Hydro One at the motion hearing to provide essentially their project costs in a similar manner that NextBridge provided their costs, and provide an explanation.

Do you see that?  That is over the next few pages.

MR. SPENCER:  We see it, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you go to page 45, we asked NextBridge to do the same thing, to provide a variance analysis towards the difference between their costs and your costs, and you'll see that over the next few pages.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  We see it, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  On page 55, we provided you in advance, this is simply putting those two tables together so you can see each other's explanations next to each other.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  We're just conferring on one subtlety, if you will give us one minute, please.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize this is not the updated costs, so if that is the difference, it is in the IRs.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize there's some small changes here and there, I just want to ask you about a couple of the larger differences and ask you to respond to some questions I have with them.

If we go down to materials and equipment, that is an area of significant difference between your project and the NextBridge project.  Do you see that?  They're at 89.4, and your proposal is at 58.7.  Do you see that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  We see that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the rationale for NextBridge's view is essentially they're not clear about what you have included in this category, and they think that you may be generally understating the costs.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  That is certainly their view and we would be happy to elaborate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My question is actually a little different.  Are the materials and equipment -- is the vast majority of these costs contained within the EPC contract?

MR. SPENCER:  All of the costs --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  All of it is within the EPC contract.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if ultimately those costs are being understated and you have missed some items or something, in a sense that is a risk for SNC, not Hydro One, is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we go to site clearing costs, this is another very large difference.  NextBridge is at $107.5 million.  You are at $66.3 million.  Do you see that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Look, there is what the numbers say on the table, but I want to clarify, this is not the updated --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize they may be different, but there's still a large gap between the two projects, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And similarly to my previous question, are those costs primarily contained within the EPC contract?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes, they are.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately --


MR. SPENCER:  They are entirely contained within the EPC contract.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So again, if ultimately SNC has the wrong numbers and they're actually much larger, that is a risk for SNC, not Hydro One, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct, yes.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That would be correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn briefly to page 33?  This is Staff response 13.

If you flip over the page, you provide what I understand is the Monte Carlo analysis to get to your contingency amount.  Do I have that correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Just a second, please.

MR. SPENCER:  This is the Monte Carlo analysis for the contingency portion carried only by Hydro One, not SNC-Lavalin.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  But from the perspective of Hydro One ratepayers, we really care about the contingency from the perspective of the risks that Hydro One has, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Fair statement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I read this, there is a 95 percent certainty with respect to your contingency amount of 5.5 million, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  There is a 95 percent confidence interval that contingencies will be less than $5.5 million when realized, yes.  I think it is the same thing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So do I understand that to mean that there is -- based on your updated full project cost, there is a 95 percent chance that it will come in at or below that budget?

MR. SPENCER:  That's what that means, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when we went back and looked at the class 3 estimate of the plus I think 5 or 6 percent on either side, is that actually correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, which -- what tolerance were you just referring to?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go back to --


MR. SPENCER:  JT2.25?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- at page 27 and you say the bounds of the project are minus 5 percent, plus 6 percent.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  At the all-in total project, yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But really, as I understand it, that carrying $5.5 million of contingency, which is, you know, a percent, less than a percent on your project budget, gets you to 95 percent certainty.  Do I have that right?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And does that include all of the potential risks related to the EA?

MR. SPENCER:  So the risks associated with the EA, which are in fact modelled in our contingency, yes.  We've made an overarching assumption that we will be able to utilize the publicly available information from the NextBridge EA.  We spent a lot of time on this yesterday. And that we will receive a timely decision from the Ontario Energy Board around January of 2019 or earlier on the leave-to-construct decision.  So with those two qualifiers, the risks associated with the EA are reflected in here, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that's the key thing.  The contingency amount and the confidence interval are contingent on using the NextBridge EA and the Board's decision in a timely fashion.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you have not calculated what the contingency you would need if you included those risks in your Monte Carlo analysis?

MR. SPENCER:  We believe wholeheartedly that we will be able to utilize the publicly available information from the NextBridge EA.  Ms. Croll will give additional testimony on that on Tuesday morning.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I know that you think you are going to be able to -- I just want to make sure what is in and out of the model, and that is not included in the model, the Monte Carlo analysis.

MR. SPENCER:  You're right, we have not modelled that scenario; you are correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If I could ask you now to go to page 60.  This is Staff 18.  You were asked by a number of parties similar questions, and they all pointed here.  And in part (a) you were asked:

"Is Hydro One willing to provide the OEB with a not-to-exceed price for this project?  If so, what is that price?  If not, please explain."

Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  We see it, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you flip the page over, you provide your response, and you say you are, and as I understand it there are three conditions.

First, the amount would be 683 million, which is the upper band of the updated cost estimate using the same methodology from JT2.25 that we were just talking about, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Two, it has to be subject to having EA approval by August 2019, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I assume that is both the provincial EA and the Parks Canada environmental assessments, those requirements?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, and our schedule assumes that they both come concurrently, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the third thing is your board of directors needs to give that approval.

MR. SPENCER:  To bind that commitment, yes, we would need our board's approval.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think as I understood it from the first day there is a meeting in a couple of weeks on this matter.

MR. SPENCER:  October 16th, specifically.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that would be before the argument in-chief occurs.

MR. SPENCER:  So the scope of the time on October 16th's agenda at this point is to fully brief the new board on this project.  They have been briefed with overview level details on this project.  They have not, however, had the benefit of a full compendium of materials followed by a presentation with Q and A, so we will be using October 16th, approximately 30 minutes, to go through all of that.  We will be socializing with them the concept of the alternative pricing strategy, let's call it a not-to-exceed price, and signalling to them that we would be seeking their formal approval at a November meeting, which is currently set for the first week of November.

So I do acknowledge the challenge this presents in terms of the forecast argument in-chief and final arguments, but that is the schedule by which we are working with our board of directors.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And what I take from the -- what the proposal is, what you understand "not to exceed price" to mean, is that accepting that the EA approval comes in by August 2019 and you get your board of directors' approval on this, regardless of the actual costs of the project above $683 million, Hydro One will not seek recovery from the Board of that amount?

MR. SPENCER:  There are very few -- small number of exclusions we have articulated in our application.  Force majeure events, you know, changes as a function of government policy, thinking along the lines of a route change that was directed our way through any agency of the government.  Those are the two largest.

And certainly these would be exclusions in any sort of fixed-price commitment under any contract.  But under the normal course of execution of this project, for the things that we should have known or ought to have known either as Hydro One or SNC-Lavalin, we would not be seeking additional cost recovery above the not-to-exceed price.

MS. DUFF:  Can we just pull that up, that list?

MR. SPENCER:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  I think it's Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1, just to make sure I have a complete understanding.

MR. SPENCER:  Thank you.  It is in our pre-filed.

MS. DUFF:  Because one of them says "significant changes in costs of materials", so I would like you to address that, please.

Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.

And if I misinterpreted this, this list, perhaps you could explain it to me.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. DUFF:  Page 10 of 12.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SPENCER:  So thank you for drawing us to the specific exhibit.

So to elaborate on your specific point around cost of materials or commodity rates or exchange rates, we have priced this accordingly, assuming that's the proposal as is, assumes all risk up to the point of October 2018.  You know, we can certainly lock in all of those indices values which are certainly tied to commodity exchanges and foreign exchanges and be able to take that risk as Hydro One, within a certain bound, and we would be happy to define what that bound would be.  It is one of the elements we would be seeking clarity on and support of from our board of directors.

But the envisioned concept here was that non-significant changes, like normal movement in forex and commodity prices, would be absorbed by Hydro One, and we would have to specifically define what "significant" was.

Our intention was we would clearly define that in our commitment and our condition with the OEB, but the spirit of that is not minor changes, you know, month over month, but significant changes as a result of anything substantially outside of the control of Hydro One.

MS. DUFF:  And the title of that is, it says "risk elements not included in the Hydro One price."  I take it that is the $676 million leave to construct -- cost for construction?  What number is the Hydro One price?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SPENCER:  So in reference to your question, the total price would, in fact, be the total project delivery price of 683 million.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein, please continue.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, I have a question, because now that the list is up -- with respect to any conditions imposed by regulatory bodies or government agencies such as this one, have you thought through how that would work?  So if we put a condition on with respect to what we heard today or with respect to a completion date, let's say -- which is something we will probably ask you about later -- if you were to say the project had to be completed by a certain date, does that void this?

How did you think that would work?  Like, if there were any conditions imposed by this Board, then it would void the not to exceed price?  Or is that something you are going to go to your board and seek some instruction on?

MR. SPENCER:  That certainly wasn't the intention that it would void the not to exceed price conditions from this Board.

We would, I guess, on the extent of the conditions, we would assess the magnitude and the impact if any and some of these may not have any impact on schedule or price, I might allude to.

And if for some reason there was an extra burden, we would clarify what that was and then, at the discretion of the Energy Board, would have to decide if those costs were in fact prudent, or if they should be already encapsulated within the price as defined.

So this number does give us some upside manoeuvring room, and I think reasonable conditions that are generally not going to substantially change the construction schedule from what we have already planned and committed for.  I wouldn't see us seeking incremental recovery on those, but again there would have to be probably a two-way information exchange at this particular point for us just to confirm the conditions are in fact covered within our not to exceed price.

The most extreme example, and other large infrastructure projects in Canada have faced this reality, is that there are -- sometimes agencies would have suggested a route change.

So this clause was really, in effect, to guard against substantial changes like that that some other well-documented projects have faced.

So it wouldn't suggest that this panel would drive something along those regards and therefore, we would expect that the conditions imposed would likely be reasonable and something that we would be able to commit to within this price.

But we would need to be able to confirm that, just for our understanding and your comfort.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you -- I just want to ask you a couple of points with respect to the conditions of your -- of this option.

With respect to the amount of $683 million, why isn't the amount the 641 that you forecast, considering that you have built in a contingency amount with a confidence level of 95 percent?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SPENCER:  So there are a number of risks that in this scenario with a price -- a not to exceed price that Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin would be accepting on behalf of Ontario customers.

We would ensure that our costs would not exceed beyond that.  It would only be prudent that there is some element of -- I am trying to find the word -- coverage to ensure that those risks were appropriately funded and guarded.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But your contingency is built in for 95 percent of the possible risks that you are willing to accept.

MR. SPENCER:  On the Hydro One portion of the work, yes.

If we were to provide that price certainty to this Board and, in turn, customers, we would need to seek a small -- and I am going to generally characterize this as a small increment above the nominal value of $642 million that we put forward in evidence, and that is price certainty versus risk mitigation on some of the risks that we are in fact carrying, both as Hydro One and as SNC-Lavalin.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct by not to exceed doesn't mean that is what you get.  If the project comes in less, you will seek to put in rates less.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about the EA approvals of August 2019 condition.  I just want to understand what that means.

The EA approval comes in in September 2019.  Is the entire not to exceed price idea void?  Or is it all you get to ask for is the incremental costs of there being an EA delay of one month?

MR. SPENCER:  I would certainly suggest the latter and I think, in this body of evidence, we have done our best to forecast what those costs might be, subject to a prudency review in the future, if in fact we were even eligible for those costs at the Board's discretion.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  That is even though you said there will be no costs if it's September, correct?  You can do it at the same costs and in-service at the same time?

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, yes.  You are correct.  And the one month delay scenario, there would be no impact.  If we get into the longer delays which are articulated in response to Staff 7, it would be a future prudence review discussion to demonstrate that we have done everything we can to minimize cost to customers.

And this only becomes an issue if in fact we were to encroach beyond the $683 million. Anything below that, of course we are accepting that risk and committing to deliver the project within that budget, and it sounds like maybe within a defined schedule as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In my understanding of why -- I am taking from it why you have this condition is it's your biggest risk, and it is the having EA approvals in time.  That is the biggest risk of the project.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, it stands between construction start and where we sit today, yes, one of the large phases of the development.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And since you have decided to undertake this course of action of potentially having to utilize NextBridge's EA, going through the park, all of these sorts of risks, why shouldn't you bear the risk of those -- you bear the costs of those risks materializing?

MR. SPENCER:  Well, there would certainly be a benefit to the rate payers of Ontario if we are able to successfully win the leave to construct application and deliver this project for, you know, a substantial savings relative to an alternative.

You know, in this scenario, we would have already been selected as the preferred transmitter. So there is a value that comes with that cost certainty for the Board on behalf of customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would Hydro One accept a condition that regardless of when EA approvals occur and regardless of whatever the final route is, if you can go through the park or not, Hydro One will not seek in rates any amount above the NextBridge forecasted cost minus one dollar?

MR. SPENCER:  So we do have to make an assumption that on EA approval timeline.  We cannot and will not, and we would never receive authorization from our board to make a price, a contractual price commitment on something with such an open-ended scenario as you have described there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So Hydro One won't guarantee for ratepayers, regardless of what happens at the EA schedule, regardless of if you can go through the park, we will know that ultimately, if the Board chooses you, that the price that you can seek from rate payers will be essentially, you know, a little bit less than what NextBridge has asked for, knowing that or are close to getting the EA and that they have made -- their price includes going around the park?

MR. SPENCER:  Maybe there is a subtlety here.  Can we guarantee in the forms of a contractual binding obligation?  No.

But even with the contingencies we have discussed through the evidence and the delay scenarios that we have forecast, and the what about this and what about that, there is still a large premium that we are providing in terms of affordability to customers, both upfront capital costs and ongoing maintenance costs -- and I hope at some point we will have a chance to talk about those as well.  But we offer and we have provided updated evidence in the order of $150 million on a NPV basis of value relative to the alternative.

And obviously we need to pin down a price cap on an assumption of receiving EA approval.  We believe -- and Ms. Croll will elaborate further on Tuesday morning -- that it is entirely likely and we are highly optimistic and confident that we will be able to utilize the publicly available materials from the NextBridge EA.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you can't provide a guarantee for ratepayers that when three or four years from now, or two years, whenever when you come in to seek your first rate application and these amounts are being placed into rates, that ultimately the Board will know that Hydro One for sure got a better -- in choosing you, that the costs will be at or below what NextBridge said they could deliver?

MR. SPENCER:  I would suggest even the material before the Board today from both applicants, with maybe not 100.0 percent confidence, but certainly a high degree of confidence, there is information before the Board that would allow them to help make that decision.

We already in our nominal dollars have a substantial cost difference.  We can point, I believe it's in NextBridge's response to Hydro One Networks Number 14 -- 12, my apologies, there is what appears to be a change order that has already been presupposed.  The exact amounts we can't speak to.

There is no notion of an upper bounds on the competitive proposal.  They have signalled through interrogatory responses as much as 20 percent above their nominal.

So with the evidence as presented and examined by both parties, there is substantial and compelling evidence to suggest that Hydro One can cost-effectively deliver this project less than the NextBridge solution.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Mr. Buonaguro.  Do I understand you gave some of your time to Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, I did.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think he took more time than I gave him.

MS. LONG:  I think he stole --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think it was entirely --


MS. LONG:  We will talk about that later.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  Actually, I will pick up on the same topic so that anybody who is only looking for that topic in the transcript can find it all in one part, at least with respect to our two clients.

I am going to ask you to look at an Undertaking JT2.25, which was in Mr. Rubenstein's book, but I can't remember which tab.

And the reason why you are looking it up, the reason I am referring to this is because you referred to this undertaking as representing the manner in which the not-to-exceed price was calculated, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For reference I think that was Exhibit I-1-18.

So the numbers on this -- you can confirm the numbers on this actually reflect the old or the applied-for numbers, so they don't -- so for example the upper bound number is 676 million on the exhibit, but that is adjusted slightly.  Your not-to-exceed price is 683 million, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But just for the purposes of the mechanics, I just want to look at this, because you said this is how you came up with that price, the 683 price.

Now, I note that this is -- this table is divided into separate components, and presumably that is because you have different accuracy ranges for the different components of the underlying categories of the price?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So for example, for the EPC contract, you are only building your not-to-exceed price based on a 5 percent upward variance, whereas for most of the rest of the price, I think it is fair to say it is 15 percent?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, my understanding, though, is that you are not proposing to limit this -- exceed the price based on these categories; i.e., you are not suggesting that the variation on the EPC contract would be 5 percent and that the variation on the interest during construction on the EPC portion of the contract would be 5 percent and so on throughout the table.

MR. SPENCER:  We would propose it at a bottom-line number of the 683, and we would manage and deliver to that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So for example, then -- and there is a footnote here about the fixed-price contract, which talks about it being fixed at a certain point; i.e., it will be delivered for 546 million except for authorized changes and things outside the control of SNC-Lavalin.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  I see that, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But it actually makes up -- and
this -- again, this isn't the final numbers, but in this case it makes up that 5 percent variance because it is the largest part of the contract, it makes up just under $30 million of the uplift, if I can call it, to the not-to-exceed price?  27 million.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I didn't need to round that.  27 million.

So for example, if you -- there is a scenario here where your actual price might come in close to the not-to-exceed price but the EPC contract price could be exactly what you contracted for, and you would be using excess, if I can call it that, generated by that 5 percent by the EPC contract to soak up excesses in all other costs presumably well beyond 15 percent.  Right?

MR. SPENCER:  It potentially would be available, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is the mechanics of what you are proposing.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Why would that be appropriate?  You have said here that on the all other costs you already have a bound of plus/minus 15 percent.

MR. SPENCER:  So in this scenario, the risks outside of the EPC contract, it is potential that we could incur some additional costs for that, and this is what -- the tolerance on the estimate is intended to reflect that.  It is not substantially different than other tolerances that are presented in other projects, even this joint process we're going through right now.

So there is a -- there is a stated accuracy of, you know, approximately 15 percent around the nominal figures that make up our total project cost estimate, and we did feel that 15 percent was a reasonable bound, both plus and minus.

And just to clarify, if in the scenario we bring this project in for $645 million, only a few million dollars more than what was committed to in the nominal dollars, we're only seeking recovery on the 645.  Anything below 683 would be a benefit to customers against that fixed-price contract.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, against the not-to-exceed price.

MR. SPENCER:  Thank you for the clarification, not-to-exceed.  That's the correct terminology.

MR. BUONAGURO:  As Mr. Rubenstein just went through with you, you have a 95 percent, you say, confidence on a lower price, which is 641 million, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, clarify.  The contingency was based on a 95 percent confidence interval on modelling the associated risks that Hydro One is exclusively carrying.

So you can't necessarily translate that into a 95 percent confidence interval on the total project cost.  The costs are estimated within a certain range, and the contingency, which is one of the line items that of course makes the project, we have defined that based on a 95 percent confidence interval on the risks materializing in the risk register, so it's --


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you talk about it in the Hydro One side.  But then I think you went through in detail how the rest of it is the EPC contract, which is even from our perspective as a ratepayer group even higher, because it is a fixed-price contract.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.  From an assurance perspective it is higher, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am not sure why you added insurance perspective, but --


MR. SPENCER:  Assurance.  Confidence assurance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Assurance.  That's why I was confused.

So does this not-to-exceed price mean that the 541 is not what you are seeking approval anymore?

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, I don't -- I can't recall the 541 number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, 641.  I think that's the new --


MR. SPENCER:  641.8 is the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now I'm rounding.  Sorry, how do you want to round it?  640...

MR. SPENCER:  I like your math, but I feel as though we should characterize it as 642 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  642.  So we will use that.  So that is comparable to the 636 that is on the table.

If you came in with -- and we will use 660 as the number -- as the final number, would there be prudence review under this proposal with respect to the overspend, I would characterize it, relative to the 642?

MR. SPENCER:  In your scenario you are assuming there is an adoption of the not-to-exceed price?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. SPENCER:  Subject to the Board's direction, I wouldn't think that would be necessary.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So this not-to-exceed proposal essentially abandons the idea that 642 is an appropriate number under the circumstances that you provided, in the context of the --


MR. SPENCER:  I wouldn't characterize it that way per se.  I think the 642 is still the appropriate number that we have built up based on all the work to get to this point.

However, we would be alleviating any additional prudency review aside from the section 92 process we're going through now on anything between that 642 and the not-to-exceed price of 683.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I want to whip through some other stuff, and I am tiptoeing through other people's crosses, so it's going to be a little bit spotty, but bear with me, although this first part I don't think has been addressed directly.  And I think it is fairly simple, actually.

I am just looking -- I don't think we have to turn it up.  I am looking at the act, the section 96(2) criteria that the Board is looking at in this case, and I think the Board actually mentioned them at the outset of the hearing. And I'm going to go through them backwards and just get some confirmation, I think, from you with respect to those --


MR. SPENCER:  I will do my best.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So the number 2 criteria -- I will read it in full:

"Where applicable and in a manner consistent with the policies of the government of Ontario the promotion of the use of renewable sources..."

In isolation it is sort of a segmented sentence, but essentially that is one of the criteria that can be applied to the project.

My understanding, and confirm it if you could, you are not suggesting that Hydro One's proposal with respect to the promotion of the use of renewable energy sources is any different than the NextBridge proposal?

MR. SPENCER:  I really don't think it is.

The project need is defined within the context of the LTEP, and the OSC I think addresses that, so the Hydro One project is no different.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Going backwards, the number 1, which sets out what I call the other three criteria, price, reliability and quality of electricity service, with respect to quality of electricity service, I think again, and if you could confirm it, there is no difference between the Hydro One proposal and the NextBridge proposal with respect to quality of service once either of the lines, as opposed to both at the same time, are in service.  The quality of service should be the same?

MR. SPENCER:  At a macro level, you are correct and I agree, the subtlety being we have updated our pricing to account for spatial separation of the new facilities and the aforementioned T1M 115 kV line.

And in the scenario where NextBridge has not currently planned to relocate those facilities, or at least fund the relocation of those facilities, there is a slight improvement in our application, because the risk of coincident outages of the two circuits coming into contact with each other and certain contingencies is reduced.  It is a small point.

So back to the macro level, I don't believe there is any substantial difference.   My panel member, Mr. Reinmuller, would like to elaborate.

MR. REINMULLER:  I would actually go a little bit further and suggest that Hydro One's presence in northern Ontario and ability to restore any kind of event that would happen in the northern Ontario would produce a substantial positive to the province.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I don't want to parse it too much, but wouldn't that be a reliability issue as opposed to a quality of electricity service issue?

MR. REINMULLER:  You could take it both ways.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to eliminate things we have to argue about.  So I suspect the quality of electricity service assumes that service is being provided and there is no -- the power quality, for example, is essentially identical?

MR. SPENCER:  For all intents and purposes, the quality of service between the two applications is the same.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And that takes us to reliability.  When I was thinking about reliability, there's sort of the big issue, which I think everybody agrees is an issue is whether or not one or the other of the proponents can bring the line in on a particular point in time to meet reliability requirements in the area.

My understanding is that you are not proposing that your line is necessarily superior in that regard.  I think you are proposing that it is equivalent, particularly because of the added quirk of the need to postpone the transformation project aspect of what becomes both projects because of the EA linkage you talked about before.

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, there is not a material difference between the two.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So if there is an argument there, the argument is really about whether or not your project is going to come in significantly later or materially later, I believe?

MR. SPENCER:  So we have certainly planned, with some allowance for schedule float, to be completed by year-end 2021.

Now, the corollary and in comparison -- and this is available of course in their response to Staff 49, we have seen -- NextBridge has articulated that they do plan to start construction in the spring of 2019.

We would suggest there are some seasonality considerations that need to be taken into account to assess, in fact, the viability of that.

We are planning to start construction, subject to receiving environmental approvals, in the fall as in relation to some of the environmental conditions that we can foresee for clearing and access in the area.

But either way you slice it, this comes down to a few months one way or the other.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then the other sort of other reliability, major reliability issue I think that is being brought forward -- subject to what you just told me about presence in the north, I don't believe you are claiming that your project will be necessarily fundamentally more reliable on an ongoing basis, whereas NextBridge is claiming that there is something fundamentally or materially inferior about your tower design.

MR. SPENCER:  We are in fact -- thank you, Mr. Reinmuller, for bringing it to the foreground for me.

We are in fact suggesting that we will have a superior presence in the north which would allow us to, in the event of a forced outage that required diagnostic and repair, let's say, it is not beyond recollection in the life of the -- consideration, I should say, in the life of the line that there will be issues that need to be dealt with.

We have staff already stationed across northwestern Ontario.  We have construction staff.  We have maintenance staff, a variety of trades that are able to respond and deal with transmission issues on a timely basis.

Our reliability on the transmission system is first quartile across North America, and that is in large part due to our ability to respond when we have unplanned outages, both from our control centre and centralized operations here in Ontario, as well as our, you know, strategic locations of work centres across the entire province, but it's certainly a focus in north-western Ontario, be it Thunder Bay, Kenora, Sault Ste. Marie, Sudbury, all of these locations that are able to be leaned upon in the event of response to unplanned outages.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, I have never, through the corollary, heard anywhere near the workforce and infrastructure available from the other project for consideration.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am going to flip to one quick -- these are questions I hope on consultation, the duty to consult.  I am not talking about any specific activities.  I want to know -- this is more about a process thing in terms of its impact on possible scheduling.

I am looking at Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 34, sub (c). This is a NextBridge interrogatory to Hydro One and asking about a duty to consult.

Just before you go to the answer to part (c), the question at part (c) says:
"Confirm that unless Hydro One is able to enter into consultation agreements with each of the identified Indigenous communities, it will not proceed with the Lake Superior Link."


If you go over to the answer, it says:
"Reaching consultation agreements with each Indigenous community is not required for Hydro One to proceed with construction of the project."

Now, I understand there has been a lot of cross-examination on very specific issues about specific communities.

I am concerned about what this answer suggests to me and whether I have it right.

It suggests to me that while you would have a duty to consult, and that duty to consult may be with specific groups or communities; and that normally that duty is carried out and results in a consultation agreement.  It may be the case that you can't reach agreement with everybody you are supposed to and that that is not a barrier to completion of the project.

I am wondering do I have that right?  If so, can you explain why it is not a barrier to the completion of the project?  I think that was actually part of the question from NextBridge; they asked for details about how you would go about it in the absence of having fulfilled the duty to consult, the consultation agreement.

MS. GOULAIS:  So the way you summarized it is correct.  I would just add that -- which is also a part of our answer is that through the consultation that we have been able to undertake since February, and given what we have been hearing from communities, the other reason why reaching consultation agreements, for example, which was how the question was posed, some communities have indicated to us they're in fact not interested in signing any consultation agreements with us, but would like to be kept informed of the various project information.  So we're sharing information, continuing to meet, continuing to keep them apprised and informed of what that information looks like.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't know if you are done, but if not, I'm sorry I am interrupting.

When you say that, I say okay.  It sounds like those communities have been satisfied to some degree that they're not complaining about a failure of the duty to consult.

I am more concerned about the communities where there is a complaint about the failure of the duty to consult.

Are you saying in this answer, well, you can go ahead with the project anyway and that is the nature of the relationship between someone who has had the duty to consult delegated to them and the groups that they're consulting with, that as long as you act presumably in good faith, a failure means that you can still go on?

MS. GOULAIS:  So based on the consultation conducted with communities to date, we have no reason to believe that we will not be able to undertake consultation and accommodation going forward on this project within the time frames that we have identified.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I don't think that answers the question, though, whether -- the answer that you gave me here suggests -- or not me, sorry, NextBridge answered the question -- asked the question.  It suggested that if you -- if it didn't happen -- and I suspect that is at least a possibility -- it sounds like you can forge ahead.

Now, presumably somebody at some point becomes the arbiter about whether or not the duty to consult was fulfilled.  Presumably in this context it would be the EA process?

MS. GOULAIS:  Right.  So the Ministry of Environment, Conservation, and Parks -- if I am getting that acronym right -- does have a decision to make in terms of whether or not the EA is adequate and whether or not they are going to approve it.

As a part of that there is an Indigenous consultation aspect to the EA which will inform their decision around adequacy of the EA.

So there is an Indigenous -- a significant Indigenous consultation aspect to the EA approval.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So in terms of process, if this happens with one of the over 18 communities, I think it is 23 that are listed in this interrogatory response, if there is an intractable problem between the two, that -- the details of that would go as part of the EA process, and you would find out if the Ministry determines that you acted appropriately and continue the project when the Minister provides a decision on the EA process?

MS. GOULAIS:  So again, the -- I am not an expert on the EA process, but I do know there is an Indigenous consultation aspect to the EA.  And we are, as Ms. Croll alluded to over the last couple of days, we are getting regular feedback.  We are having regular conversations with the Ministry of Environment, Conservation, and Parks, and some of that feedback and some of those -- some of the feedback is in relation to our Indigenous consultation to date.

And also the -- another part of it is Indigenous input on the terms of reference and being able to understand what their concerns are and being able to respond and hopefully mitigate those impacts.

So again, the consultation process at large as well as specifically to the EA is an ongoing process, and there is ongoing discussions with the various regulators and decision-makers with regards to what that process looks like, how it is taking place, do we need to work with communities differently based on their feedback, and keeping the Ministry of Environment informed as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  If we go over quickly to the next interrogatory, 35, I-2-35, it is very similar, but I believe it has to do with participation agreements.  A similar question at part (d):

"Confirm that unless Hydro One is able to enter into participation agreements with each of the identified Indigenous communities it will not proceed to construction with the Lake Superior Link project."

If you go over to the answer at (d), it struck me that there was no similar "we will go ahead regardless".  It talks about -- this is where you get into the 45-day minimum in order to work out those agreements.  Is there a difference in your obligation between duty to consult and duty to accommodate, where if you fail to duty to accommodate you're stuck; whereas duty to consult, if there is an impasse you wait to see if the Board -- not the Board, but the Minister determines that you were -- you did what you could?

MS. GOULAIS:  So again this answer, part (d), is specifically related to a commercial partnership with BLP communities.  That is what this answer is referring to specifically.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you go back to the question, because the question wasn't specific to BLP.  So maybe that is the confusion then.

MS. GOULAIS:  So if we look at the question then, which asks about participation agreements, again, I believe I have answered this throughout the last couple of days.  There are various forms of accommodation.  Participation agreements -- or, sorry, economic participation agreements and what communities are interested in working with us on, it is going to be very different based on each community we are working with.

And it is -- accommodation flows from understanding what the impacts are, how to mitigate them, and what the appropriate accommodation measures are based on what that impact is.

And so to answer the question, I think your question is -- which we have answered before is:  Will we proceed in the absence of participation agreements?  And I think the answer is, yes, because those participation agreements will be specifically related to impacts and mitigating those impacts.

And communities are at various stages of consultation, and us understanding what their interests are and if in fact they are interested in some form of economic participation agreement or if there are other aspects of this project that they're more interested in.

MR. BUONAGURO:  See -- thank you.  So you said you would go ahead in the absence of an agreement.  You then suggest circumstances where the reason that there is no agreement is because there is some other arrangement with the community in question, the hypothetical community, I'm suggesting to you.  I am looking at the very specific example where you haven't got into an agreement of any kind with a particular group that you are supposed to accommodate.

What happens next?  I suspect it is the same as with the consultation.  It ends up before the Minister on approving the EA, and you find out then whether or not there is going to be consequences with respect to your EA approval.

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think if you are referring to adequacy of consultation and who makes those decisions around whether consultation is adequate or not, the Ministry of Environment will make a decision from an environmental assessment perspective.

And if the adequacy of Hydro One's consultation on this project is challenged, it would be challenged with the Ministry of Energy, who delegated the consultation to us.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if it's determined that you were inadequate in some fashion with one or more communities, what are the consequences?

MS. GOULAIS:  I don't know what the ministry would recommend or suggest.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  One very discrete question -- I am skipping a bunch of questions.  I shouldn't have given away my time.

In terms of calculating the net present value and doing the various calculations with respect to the revenue requirement for the project, it is not immediately clear on the record that -- at least to me -- that the impact of equity participation agreements would have been included.  I suspect they are, but I just want confirmation that -- so for example, any reduction in the revenue requirement associated with tax breaks associated with First Nations' ownership, for example?

MR. SPENCER:  I am highly confident that they have been included.  Perhaps something we could confirm verbally on Tuesday morning when Ms. Croll returns.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.

MR. SPENCER:  But my understanding is, yes, the updated DCFs and revenue requirements have in fact accounted for a 34 percent partnership and the associated after-tax implications of that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.
Procedural Matters:


Mr. Garner, how long do you think you are going to be?

MR. GARNER:  I think I am going to take at least my allotted 30 minutes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Because we have a hard stop at 5:00 today, so then I am going to propose that we start with you, I guess, on Tuesday morning.

MR. GARNER:  That's fine.  Just one matter, if it helps at all to you, Madam Chair.  I will have no questions of Ms. Goulais or Mr. Fair.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

As people can see, we have fallen far behind our schedule.  So we are canvassing with people whether or not we could sit anytime on Wednesday.  So if people can let Board Staff know via e-mail whether or not they're available and what times, whether it is a half day in the morning or half day, the Panel is able to rejig our schedules to sit part of that day.  So if you would be so good as to let staff know the availability of you and your witnesses.

That being said, I don't think there is anything else at this juncture that we need to speak to.  There may be some issues to talk about, I guess, with respect to scheduling on Tuesday, but as far as we're concerned we will be sitting the days that we thought we would sit next week, and we will look for some additional time to catch up.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, just a --


MS. LONG:  Yes.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  -- question here, just to assess the nature of the questions we're likely to receive, just one of our panel members will not be able to be present next week.  Mr. Pinto has other commitments.  So I am just looking to counsel to see if he can give me an indication of what the type of questions are.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Murray, I think you are the ones that are left.

MR. GARNER:  I can try to be helpful from my end.  I will have questions on really -- in the area of for the engineers and SNC-Lavalin people, on the station, station schedules if that is the work you are also doing, and on the issue of the outage in the park.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Specific to those, we should be okay.

MR. SPENCER:  I think we can cover those in the absence of Mr. Pinto.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Questions we will have around engineering are mostly related to other quad and triple circuits, or 6 circuit towers and how they operate as compared to this proposed project.  So that's -- in terms of the engineering realm, that is where we're mostly looking at.

MS. LONG:  If that is Mr. Pinto, let me know now because we can get some questions asked now.

MR. SPENCER:  I think we can handle that in the absence of Mr. Pinto.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then it looks like, Mr. Pinto, you have a free pass and we are not going to need to hear from you next week.

So our thanks for your evidence, and we will see everybody back on Tuesday.  Have a good long weekend.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:40 p.m.
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